
 

 

For all enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Sharon Hughes 
 (Tel: 01443 864281   Email: hughesj@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Date: 2nd July 2024 

 
To Whom It May Concern, 
 
A multi-locational meeting of the Planning Committee will be held in the Council Chamber, Penallta 
House, and via Microsoft Teams on Wednesday, 10th July, 2024 at 5.00 pm to consider the matters 
contained in the following agenda.  You are welcome to use Welsh at the meeting, a minimum notice 
period of 3 working days is required should you wish to do so.  A simultaneous translation will be provided 
on request.  
 
Members of the public or Press may attend in person at Penallta House or may view the meeting live via 
the following link: https://civico.net/caerphilly.   
 
 

This meeting will be live-streamed and a recording made available to view via the Council’s website, 
except for discussions involving confidential or exempt items.  Therefore the images/audio of those 
individuals present and/or speaking at Planning Committee will be publicly available to all via the 

recording on the Council website.  
 

 
Interested parties may make a request to speak in regard to any item on this agenda. To obtain further 
details on this process please contact the Committee Clerk hughesj@caerphilly.gov.uk.   
 
 

Yours faithfully, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Public Document Pack

https://civico.net/caerphilly
https://civico.net/caerphilly
mailto:hughesj@caerphilly.gov.uk


Pages 
  

1  To receive apologies for absence. 
  

 

2  Declarations of Interest. 
  

Councillors and Officers are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal 
and/or prejudicial interest(s) in respect of any item of business on this agenda in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Code of Conduct for 
both Councillors and Officers. 

 
 
To approve and sign the following minutes: -  
 
3  Planning Committee held on 12th June 2024. 

1 - 8  
 

To receive and consider the following report(s): -  
 
4  Application No: 23/0882/FULL - The New Forge, Brynhoward Terrace, Oakdale, Blackwood, 

NP12 0LG. 
9 - 42  

 

5  Application No: 24/0299/RM - Land Off Tir Y Wen, North Of Bedwellty Road, Aberbargoed. 
43 - 72  

 

 
Circulation: 

Councillors M.A. Adams, Mrs E.M. Aldworth (Vice Chair), A. Angel, R. Chapman, N. Dix, G. Ead, 
J.E. Fussell, A. Hussey, B. Miles, M. Powell, R. Saralis (Chair), J. Simmonds, J. Taylor, S. Williams, 
A. Whitcombe and K. Woodland. 
 
And Appropriate Officers 
 
HOW WE WILL USE YOUR INFORMATION 
Those individuals that attend committee meetings to speak/give evidence will be named in the minutes of that meeting, 
sometimes this will include their place of employment or business and opinions expressed.  Minutes of Meetings incl uding details 
of speakers will be publicly available to all via the Council website at www.caerphilly.gov.uk. except for discussions involving 
confidential or exempt items. 
 
You have a number of rights in relation to your information, including the rights of access to information we hold about you and 
the right of complaint if you are unhappy with the way your information is being processed. 
For further information on how we process your information and your rights please view the Full Committee Meetings Privacy 

Notice on our website or contact Legal Services by email griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk or telephone 01443 863028. 

 
 

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
mailto:griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk


 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF THE MULTI-LOCATIONAL MEETING HELD AT PENALLTA HOUSE  

AND VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS ON WEDNESDAY, 12TH JUNE 2024  
AT 5:00 PM 

 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor R. Saralis – Chair 
Councillor Mrs E. M. Aldworth – Vice Chair 

 
 

Councillors: 
 

M. A. Adams, A. Angel, R. Chapman, N. Dix, A. Hussey, B. Miles, M. Powell, J. Simmonds, 
S. Williams, A. Whitcombe and K. Woodland. 
 
Cabinet Member: Councillor P. Leonard (Planning and Public Protection). 

 
 

Together with: 
 

V. Julian (Senior Lawyer), R. Thomas (Planning Services Manager), C. Powell (Team 
Leader Development Management), H. Winsall (Principal Planner), M. Tanner (Principal 
Engineer), M. Godfrey (Team Leader - Pollution Control), C. Campbell (Transportation 
Engineering Manager) and S. Hughes (Committee Services Officer).  
 
Also present to speak on applications:   
Agenda Item 5 – Councillor E. Forehead (Local Ward Member). 
 

 
RECORDING, FILMING AND VOTING ARRANGEMENTS 

 
The Chair reminded those present that the meeting was being live-streamed and 
recorded and would be made available following the meeting via the Council’s website – 
Click Here to View.  Members were advised that voting on decisions would be taken via 
Microsoft Forms.   

 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors G. Ead, J. Fussell and J. Taylor. 
 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of interest received at the commencement or during the course 
of the meeting. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

https://civico.net/caerphilly


 
3. PLANNING COMMITTEE HELD ON 15TH MAY 2024 

 
It was moved and seconded that the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 
15th May 2024 be agreed as a correct record.  By way of Microsoft Forms and verbal 
confirmation (and in noting there were 12 for, 0 against and 0 abstentions) this was 
unanimously agreed. 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 15th May 
2024 (minute nos. 1-6) be approved as a correct record. 

 
 
The Planning Committee considered the applications in the order recorded below. 
 
5. APPLICATION NO: 24/0120/LA - LAND AT GRID REF 316303 186554, CAERPHILLY 

BUSINESS PARK, CAERPHILLY 
 

The Planning Case Officer presented the application, with it confirmed in the 
accompanying report that the recommendation in respect of the proposal had taken full 
account of, and was in conformity with, both Future Wales and Planning Policy Wales 
Edition 12.  The Planning Case Officer verbally advised the Committee that two objections 
to the application have been received since the publication of the report relating to the 
depth of the proposed swimming pool and provision of spectator seating. 

 
Councillor E. Forehead (Local Ward Member) spoke in support of the application. 
 
Following consideration of the application it was moved and seconded that subject to the 
conditions contained in the Officer’s report, the recommendation be approved.  By way of 
Microsoft Forms and verbal confirmation (and in noting there were 13 for, 0 against and 0 
abstentions) this was unanimously agreed. 

 
RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i) Subject to the conditions contained in the Officer’s report, the application 

be GRANTED. 
 

(ii) The applicant be advised: 
NOTIFICATION OF INITIATION OF DEVELOPMENT AND DISPLAY OF 
NOTICE: 
You must comply with your duties in section 71ZB (notification of initiation 
of development and display of notice: Wales) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. The duties include: 

 
Notice of initiation of development: 
Before beginning any development to which this planning permission 
relates, notice must be given to the local planning authority in the form set 
out in Schedule 5A to the town and Country Planning (development 
Management procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 or in a form substantially to 
the like effect.  The form sets out the details which must be given to the 
local planning authority to comply with this duty. 
 
Display of Notice: 
The person carrying out the development to which this planning permission 
relates must display at or near the place where the development is being 
carried out, at all times when it is being carried out, a notice of this 
planning permission in the form set out in Schedule 5B to the Town and 

Page 2



country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 
2012 or in a form substantially to the like effect. The form sets out the 
details the person carrying out development must display to comply with 
this duty. 
 
The person carrying out the development must ensure the notice is: 
(a) Firmly affixed and displayed in a prominent place at or near the place 
where the development is being carried out; 
(b) legible and easily visible to the public without having to enter the site; 
and 
(c) printed on durable material. The person carrying out development 
should take reasonable steps to protect the notice (against it being 
removed, obscured or defaced) and, if need be, replace it. 

 
(iii) The applicant be advised that in respect of the details required to 

discharge the landscaping condition (condition 20), the following details 
would be expected to be submitted (but not exclusively so) as part of final 
landscaping scheme: 
 
Protection from vehicles for all trees within the car parking area, in the form 
proprietary steel painted guards; 
 
A suitably scaled plan and detailed drawing showing the below ground load 
supporting crate system and available rooting volume, means of watering 
and aeration and soil make up for each tree planted within the car parking 
area; 
 
Below ground support for trees at the site entrance associated with the 
new building and Acer campestre ‘Streetwise’ located in the larger carpark; 
 
Composted bark mulch at 1.2m dia. and 75mm depth and protection with a 
strimmer guard for all trees located within grass wildflower meadows 
including SuDS areas; 
 
Larger sizes for ornamental shrubs given the importance of the proposed 
development and location at the entrance and approach to the building, in 
a revised planting plan; 
 
Clarification of the planting details along with maintenance details for the 
green roof; 
 
A landscape specification for all planting and seeding, with details on 
means of planting and seeding, operations, ground preparation, watering 
etc; 
 
Details of surfacing materials, boundary treatments and walls; 
 
Suitable habitat for the dingy skipper butterfly; 
 
The recreation of areas of marshy grassland; 
 
Street furniture, including benches, cycle parking, bike shelter, bins, 
bollards and appearance of lighting, any free standing CCTV. 

 
(iv) The applicant be advised: 

WARNING: 

Page 3



SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE APPROVAL IS REQUIRED PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF THIS DEVELOPMENT. 
Please note from 7th January 2019, Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 commenced in Wales requiring all new 
developments of more than one house or where the construction area is of 
100m2 or more to implement sustainable drainage to manage on-site 
surface water.  Surface water drainage systems must be designed and 
built in accordance with mandatory standards for sustainable drainage 
published by Welsh Ministers. 
 
The Sustainable Drainage Approval process is a technical approval 
independent of the need to obtain planning permission, and as such you 
are advised to contact the Sustainable Drainage Approval Body.  Their 
details are provided below: 
 
Phone: 01443 866511 
Email: drainage@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Website: www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sab 

 
(v) The applicant be advised: 

WARNING – SEPARATE APPROVAL UNDER THE LAND DRAINAGE 
ACT (1991) / CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL LAND 
DRAINAGE BYELAWS (2018) REQUIRED: 
 
Please note that Caerphilly County Borough Council operate Land 
Drainage Byelaws and that works on a near a watercourse may require 
Ordinary Watercourse Consent (OWC). 
 
The erection or construction of any Building or Structure within the Byelaws 
distance is only permitted following written consent from the Lead Local 
Flood Authority.  Planning Permission granted here does not remove the 
requirement for approval from the Lead Local Flood Authority to be 
obtained. 
 
You are advised to contact the Lead Local Flood Authority.  Their contact 
details are provided below: 
 
Phone: 01443 866511  
Email: drainage@caerphilly.gov.uk 

 
(vi) The applicant be advised that if the development will give rise to a new 

discharge (or alter an existing discharge) of trade effluent, directly or 
indirectly to the public sewerage system, then a Discharge Consent under 
Section 118 of the Water Industry Act 1991 is required from Dwr 
Cymru/Welsh Water.  Please note that the process for applying for a 
Discharge Consent is independent of the planning process and an 
application for consent may be refused even though planning permission 
may have already been granted. 
 

(vii) The applicant be advised that some public sewers and lateral drains may 
not be recorded on Dwr Cymru/Welsh Water's maps of public sewers 
because they were originally privately owned and were transferred into 
public ownership by nature of the Water Industry (Schemes for Adoption of 
Private Sewers) Regulations 2011.  The presence of such assets may 
affect the proposal.  In order to assist in dealing with the proposal the 
applicant may contact Dwr Cymru/Welsh Water.  Under the Water Industry 

Page 4

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sab
mailto:drainage@caerphilly.gov.uk


Act 1991 Dwr Cymru/Welsh Water has rights of access to its apparatus at 
all times. 

 
(viii) The applicant be advised that they may need to apply to Dwr Cymru/Welsh 

Water for any connection to the public sewer under S106 of the Water 
industry Act 1991.  If the connection to the public sewer network is either 
via a lateral drain (i.e., a drain which extends beyond the connecting 
property boundary) or via a new sewer (i.e., serves more than one 
property), it is now a mandatory requirement to first enter into a Section 
104 Adoption Agreement (Water Industry Act 1991). The design of the 
sewers and lateral drains must also conform to the Welsh Ministers 
Standards for Gravity Foul Sewers and Lateral Drains and conform with 
the publication "Sewers for Adoption"- 7th Edition. Further information can 
be obtained via the Developer Services pages of www.dwrcymru.com. 

 
(ix) The applicant be advised that the planning permission hereby granted 

does not extend any rights to carry out any works permissions required by 
the Water industries Act 1991.  Any alterations to existing premises 
resulting in the creation of additional premises or merging of existing 
premises must also be constructed so that each is separately connected to 
the Company’s water main and can be separately metered.  Please 
contact DCWW’s new connections team on 0800 917 2652 for further 
information on water and sewerage connections.  

 
(x) In accordance with Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12) and Technical 

Advice Note 12 (Design), the applicant be advised to take a sustainable 
approach in considering water supply in new development proposals, 
including utilising approaches that improve water efficiency and reduce 
water consumption.  It is recommended that the applicant liaises with the 
Local Authority Building Control Team to discuss their water efficiency 
requirements. 

 
(xi) The applicant be advised that the treatment and disposal of contaminated 

soils and groundwater is regulated by waste legislation and requires an 
environmental permit. 

 
Excavated materials that are recovered via a treatment operation can be 
re-used on-site under the CL:AIRE Definition of Waste: Development 
Industry Code of Practice.  This voluntary Code of Practice provides a 
framework for determining whether or not excavated material arising from 
site during remediation and/or land development works are waste. 
 
Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately 
characterised both chemically and physically, and that the permitting status 
of any proposed on site operations are clear.  If in doubt, Natural 
Resources Wales should be contacted for advice at an early stage to avoid 
any delays. 
 
Natural Resources Wales recommends that developers should: 
 
1. Follow the risk management framework provided in Land contamination 

risk management (LCRM) 
 

2. Refer to 'Land Contamination: a guide for developers (WLGA, 2017) for 
the type of information that we require in order to assess risks to 
controlled waters from the site. The Local Authority can advise on risk 
to other receptors, such as human health. 

Page 5

http://www.dwrcymru.com/


 
3. Refer to the Environment Agency's (2017) 'Approach to Groundwater 

Protection' 
 
 
4. APPLICATION NO: 22/0713/RET - THE MEADOWS FARM VILLAGE RETREAT, THE 

MEADOWS, GYPSY LANE, GROESWEN, CARDIFF 
 

The Planning Case Officer presented the application, with it confirmed in the 
accompanying report that the recommendation in respect of the proposal had taken full 
account of, and was in conformity with, both Future Wales and Planning Policy Wales 
Edition 12.   
 
Following consideration of the application it was moved and seconded that subject to the 
conditions contained in the Officer’s report, the recommendation be approved.  By way of 
Microsoft Forms and verbal confirmation (and in noting there were 13 for, 0 against and 0 
abstentions) this was unanimously agreed. 

 
RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i)   Subject to the conditions contained in the Officer’s report, the application be 

GRANTED.   
 

(ii) The applicant be advised: 
WARNING: 
SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE APPROVAL IS REQUIRED PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF THIS DEVELOPMENT. 
 
Please note from 7th January 2019, Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 commenced in Wales requiring all new 
developments of more than one house or where the construction area is of 
100m2 or more to implement sustainable drainage to manage on-site 
surface water.  Surface water drainage systems must be designed and 
built in accordance with mandatory standards for sustainable drainage 
published by Welsh Ministers. 
 
The Sustainable Drainage Approval process is a technical approval 
independent of the need to obtain planning permission, and as such you 
are advised to contact the Sustainable Drainage Approval Body.  Their 
details are provided below: 

 
Phone: 01443 866511 
Email: drainage@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Website: www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sab 
 

(iii) WARNING - SEPARATE APPROVAL UNDER THE LAND DRAINAGE 
ACT (1991) / CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL LAND 
DRAINAGE BYELAWS (2018) REQUIRED: Please note that Caerphilly 
County Borough Council operate Land Drainage Byelaws and that works 
on a near a watercourse may require Ordinary Watercourse Consent 
(OWC). 

 
The erection or construction of any Building or Structure within the Byelaws 
distance is only permitted following written consent from the Lead Local 
Flood Authority.  Planning Permission granted here does not remove the 
requirement for approval from the Lead Local Flood Authority to be 

Page 6

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sab


obtained.  You are advised to contact the Lead Local Flood Authority.  
Their contact details are provided below: 

 
Phone: 01443 866511 
Email: drainage@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Website: https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Roadsand-
pavements/Flood-riskmanagement/Consent-to-work-on-an-ordinary-
watercourse 

 
 

 
The meeting closed at 5.43 pm. 

 
 

Approved as a correct record and subject to any amendments or corrections agreed and 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting held on 10th July 2024, they were signed by the 
Chair. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
_______________________ 

CHAIR 

Page 7

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Roadsand-
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Roadsand-


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Application Number: 23/0882/FULL 
 

Date Received: 08.01.2024 

 
Applicant: Castell Group 

 
Description and Location of Development:  Demolish existing public house and erect 

residential development of 26 apartments, landscaped access, vehicle parking, public 
open space, and associated works - The New Forge Brynhoward Terrace Oakdale 

Blackwood NP12 0LG 
 
APPLICATION TYPE: Full Application 

 
SITE AND DEVELOPMENT 

 
Location: The application site is located on Brynhoward Terrace, Oakdale. 
 

Site description: Long established vacant public house, with a number of parking bays 
to the front of the site and a large car park to the rear. The site is currently enclosed with 

heras fencing and the windows and doors within the building are boarded up for security 
purposes. Vehicular access into the site is located along the western boundary and the 
site falls away in a southerly to northerly (front to rear) direction. 

 
Residential properties are located along the western and northern boundaries, the 

eastern boundary is enclosed by a timber fence beyond which is a hedgerow forming 
the boundary of one of Croespenmaen's protected public open space/ amenity areas 
and also forms part of leisure allocation LE 5.4 Former Oakdale Colliery and is bounded 

by further residential development beyond. A pedestrian footpath fronts the southern 
boundary with an intervening 6.5 metre wide carriageway. On the opposite side of the 

carriageway there are two detached dwellings with residential properties to the east and 
Oakdale Athletics Track to the west. 
 

Development: Full planning permission is sought to demolish the existing public house 
and erect residential development of 26 apartments, landscaped access, vehicle 

parking, public open space, and associated works. 
 
Dimensions: Block 1 is T-shaped and has a maximum footprint measuring 11.05 metres 

wide and 24.01 metres long. The principal elevation of the building facing Brynhoward 
Terrace measures 6.9 metres to the eaves and 10.05 metres to ridge height. As the 

land falls away to the rear the building measures 7.41 metres to eaves and 10.78 
metres to ridge height. 
The ground floor comprises of 4 x 1 bedroom apartments and 2 x 2 bedroom 

apartments. 
The first floor comprises of 4 x 1 bedroom apartments and 2 x 2 bedroom apartments. 

The second floor comprises of 6 x 1 bedroom apartments. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



Block 2 is located to the rear of Block 1 and has a maximum footprint measuring 26.01 
metres wide and 20.03 metres long. The building steps down from three storeys to two 

storeys in height towards the northern end of the site. The maximum height of the three 
storey element measures 7.48 metres to the eaves and 10.76 metres to ridge height 

and the maximum height of the two storey element measures 5.9 metres to the eaves 
and 9.0 metres to ridge height   
 

The ground floor comprises of 2 x 1 bedroom apartments and 1 x 2 bedroom 
apartments. 

The first floor comprises of 2 x 1 bedroom apartments and 1 x 2 bedroom apartments. 
The second floor comprises of 2 x 1 bedroom apartments. 
 

Materials: The walls comprise of red/brown multi facing brick with contrasting brick cills, 
heads and soldier courses, stone quoins and white coloured rough cast render. The 

roofs comprise of blue/ grey fibre cement slates and GRP roofing to dormer windows 
together with upvc fascias, rainwater goods and windows. 
 

Ancillary development, e.g. parking: The development will be served by 26 off-street car 
parking spaces and one visitor space. Cycle storage, bin stores, outdoor drying areas 

and communal garden areas and low level retaining walls along the western boundary 
are indicated. 
 

PLANNING HISTORY 2010 TO PRESENT18/0090/FULL - Partly demolish existing 
building and change the use of the existing Class A3 (public house) and erect new 

extension to create two Class A1 (retail) units, servicing area, car parking and 
associated works - Granted - 18.02.2019. 
 

19/0509/ADV - Erect three fascia signs, two internal posters and one projecting sign - 
Granted - 20.08.2019. 

 
19/0508/FULL - Erect two new air conditioning condenser units in a security cage and 
two extract grilles - Granted - 20.08.2019. 

 
19/0373/COND -  Discharge Condition 02 (Materials - samples/details req) Condition 04 

(Clearance Breeding Birds) Condition 05 (Illumination Bats) Condition 06 (Enhancement 
hedgerow for bats) Condition 07 (Mitigation for Robin/Thrush) Condition 08 (Bat Roost 
Provision) Condition 09 (Breeding Bird Provision) Condition 11 (external plant and 

machinery) Condition 14 (Site control - dust suppression) Condition 15 (Site control - 
noise suppression) Condition 19 (Construction - structural calcs) Condition 22 ( 

Drainage - prov before occ details req) of planning consent 18/0090/FULL (Partly 
demolish existing building and change the use of the existing Class A3 (public house) 
and erect new extension to create two Class A1 (retail) units, servicing area, car parking 

and associated works) - Decided - 01.06.2020. 
 

23/0181/COND - Discharge condition 22 (Drainage) of planning consent 18/0090/FULL 
(Partly demolish existing building and change the use of the existing Class A3 (public 

Page 10



house) and erect new extension to create two Class A1 (retail) units, servicing area, car 
parking and associated works) - Decided - 27.04.2023. 

 
23/0573/COND - Discharge condition 22 (Drainage) of Planning Consent 18/0090/FULL 

(Partly demolish existing building and change the use of the existing Class A3 (public 
house) and erect new extension to create two Class A1 (retail) units, servicing area, car 
parking and associated works) - Decided - 09.10.2023. 

 
23/0715/NCC - Vary condition (01) of planning consent 18/0090/FULL (Partly demolish 

existing building and change the use of the existing Class A3 (public house) and erect 
new extension to create two Class A1 (retail) units, servicing area, car parking and 
associated works) to extend the lifetime of the consent for a further 2 years - Granted 

12.04.2024. 
 

POLICY 
 
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up 

to 2021 - adopted November 2010. 
 

Site Allocation: The application site is located within settlement limits. 
 
Policies: The Policies of relevance in the Local Development Plan are:- 

 
Strategic Policies 

Policy SP2 Development Strategy - Development in the Northern Connections Corridor 
(NCC); 
Policy SP4 Settlement Strategy; 

Policy SP5 Settlement Boundaries; 
Policy SP6 Placemaking; 

Policy SP7 Planning Obligations; 
Policy SP10 Conservation of Natural Heritage; 
Policy SP14 Total Housing Requirements; and 

Policy SP15 Affordable Housing Target. 
 

Countywide Policies 
Policy CW1 Sustainable Transport, Accessibility and Social Inclusion; 
Policy CW2 Amenity; 

Policy CW3 Design Considerations - Highways; 
Policy CW4 Natural Heritage Protection; 

Policy CW5 Protection of the Water Environment; 
Policy CW6 Trees, Woodland and Hedgerow Protection; 
Policy CW10 Leisure and Open Space Provision; 

Policy CW11 Affordable Housing Planning Obligation; and 
Policy CW15 General Locational Constraints. 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 

Page 11



LDP1: Affordable Housing Obligations; 
LDP4: Trees and Development; 

LDP5: Car Parking Standards; and 
LDP6: Building Better Places to Live. 

 
NATIONAL POLICY Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 
Policy 2 Shaping Urban Growth and Regeneration - Strategic Placemaking; 

Policy 7 Delivering Affordable Homes; 
Policy 9 Resilient Ecological Networks and Green Infrastructure; 

Policy 12 Regional Connectivity; and 
Policy 13 Supporting Digital Communications. 
 

Planning Policy Wales Edition 12, February 2024; 
 

Technical Advice Note 2: Planning and Affordable Housing; 
Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning; 
Technical Advice Note 18: Transport; and 

Technical Advice Note 23: Economic Development. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
Did the application have to be screened for an EIA? No in that the proposed 

development does not reach the 150 dwellings threshold as set out in Schedule 2 Part 
10 (Infrastructure projects) of The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 

Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2017. 
 
Was an EIA required? Not applicable. 

 
COAL MINING LEGACY 

 
Is the site within an area where there are mining legacy issues? No, the application site 
is located within a low risk coal mining referral area. However. standing advice will be 

provided to the developer by way of an informative note. 
 

CONSULTATION 
 
Environmental Health Manager - No objection subject to conditions in relation to noise 

and dust mitigation. Informative advice is also provided regarding the presence of 
asbestos with the existing building. 

 
Senior Engineer (Drainage) - No comments received. 
 

Dwr Cymru - No objection in principle to the foul flows discharging to the public sewer 
and requests the imposition of a condition to reflect this to ensure surface water flows 

do not connect directly or indirectly with the public sewerage network. 
 

Page 12



 
Estates Manager - Property Division - No adverse comments offered. 

 
CCBC Housing Enabling Officer - The proposed development is situated in the 

Penmaen ward and Northern Connections Corridor for the purpose of the Affordable 
Housing SPG. As such it attracts an affordable housing target of 25%. 25% of 26 units 
would be 7 when rounded up. If the scheme were to come forward as a 100% 

affordable housing development then the amount of affordable to be delivered would be 
above what is required by policy. 

 
The 2018 LHMA shows a clear need for 1 and 2 bedroom accommodation both in the 
immediate ward and wider housing market area. 

 
In terms of the plans, the bedrooms in some block 1 apartments back directly on to the 

living room of other apartments, which may create the potential for noise nuisance and 
suggests that the layouts are flipped to mitigate this - so bedrooms back onto 
bedrooms.  

 
Requests that all bathrooms in the 1 bedroom flats are fitted with a walk-in shower 

rather than a bath, which is consistent with the advice provided by the Council on all 
new developments.  All affordable units will need to be built to the Welsh Government 
WDQR standard. 

 
If approved, the applicant will need to enter into a s106 agreement to cover the 

arrangements in relation to the affordable housing contribution.  If the application 
progresses as planned and Linc Cymru draw down grant funding then they will be the 
recipient of the affordable housing contribution.  If not, the contribution will be 

transferred to the Council. Advice on this matter can be provided at the time of drafting 
the s106. 

 
CCBC - 21st Century Schools Manager - The schools that would be affected by the 
proposed development are: Rhiw Syr Dafydd Primary; Islwyn High School; YG Cwm 

Derwen; and YG Cwm Rhymni. 
 

There is room in all the above schools for catchment pupils applying through the normal 
admissions rounds. 
 

Parks And Countryside Operations Manager - No comments received. 
 

Waste Strategy And Operations Manager - The compound should be of an adequate 
size to store the quantity of bins/food caddies also an appropriate turning facility should 
be provided. 

 
Chief Fire Officer - Provides informative advice to the developer. 

 
National Grid - No comments received. 

Page 13



 
Ecologist - The building on the site has been identified as a roost for Common 

Pipistrelle bats and as acknowledged in the Ecology report, a European Protected 
Species licence from NRW will be required in addition to the planning consent.  

 
Whilst the recommendations are made for biodiversity conservation and enhancement, 
these are not specific and a Biodiversity Strategy will therefore be required, detailing the 

nature and location of biodiversity conservation and enhancement measures. This 
should be secured by way of a planning condition imposed to any consent. 

 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer - No comments received. 
 

Senior Arboricultural Officer (Trees) - No objection subject to the conditions in relation to 
arboricultural method statement and arboricultural method statement. A matter has also 

been raised in relation to the maintenance responsibility for the adjoining hedgerow and 
whether it will fall to the council to maintain. 
 

Landscape Architect - CCBC - The revised landscaping scheme is considered 
acceptable. 

 
Further detail is required in terms of hard landscaping, boundary treatments and cycle 
shelter all of which may be dealt with by condition. 

 
Transportation Engineering Manager - CCBC - The proposed development consists of 

20 no. 1 bedroom apartments, 6 no. 2 bedroom apartments. The proposal is located 
within parking zone 4, as set out in the Council's Supplementary Planning Guidance 
(SPG). As such, the proposed apartments have an off-street requirement of 1 space per 

bedroom (maximum requirement 3 spaces) for residents plus 1 space per 5 units for 
visitors. The development has a total requirement of 37 spaces. 

 
The submitted site plan indicates provision for 27 spaces for the proposed apartments, 
a short fall of 10 spaces from the developments SPG requirement. Provision of 27 

spaces equates to 1 space per apartment plus and 1 additional space for visitors. Given 
that at least 1 space per apartment is provided and that any visitor parking is likely to be 

typically limited to short periods of time and would be able to utilise any available space 
within the site, the proposed provision of 27 spaces is, on balance, considered 
acceptable. 

 
The proposal also has a requirement to provide cycle parking provision of 1 stand per 5 

bedrooms for the apartments. The 26 no. apartments have a total of 32 bedrooms, 
resulting in a requirement of 6 stands, or 12 cycles spaces. 
 

No highway objection is raised subject to conditions to secure on site parking and cycle 
storage, for the developer to submit a Construction Method Statement and measures to 

ensure surface water run-off from within the site do not discharge into the highway. 
 

Page 14



Informative advice is also provided to the developer regarding the proposed vehicle 
footway crossover. 

 
Senior Arboricultural Officer (Trees) - No further comments received in response to the 

queries raised previously. 
 
Placemaking Officer - Douglas McGlyn - The scheme has gone through a number of 

revisions and the amendments to include additional detailing to the elevations and is 
now considered to be acceptable. 

 
ADVERTISEMENT 
 

Extent of advertisement: The application has been advertised in the press, by means of 
a site notice and neighbour letters and was also re-advertised locally following receipt of 

amended plans. 
 
Response: 13 representations and an MP objection were received upon receipt of the 

initial neighbour consultation and 4 representations were received following re-
advertisement of the amended plans. 

 
Summary of observations: The following representations were received:- 
1. The change from the previous permission from retail units to flats does not appear to 

be the best form of development for the area. 
2. The previous proposal provided more facilities to serve the community. 

3. The development does not meet the needs of the community. 
4. CCBC keep accepting different proposals on the site in the hope of wearing down 
objecting residents. 

5. The number of changing proposals for the site has impacted the health and wellbeing 
of residents. 

6. Suggests alternative uses for the site. 
7. The infrastructure and services available in Oakdale do not support such a large 
development of flats. 

8. The development amongst other recent planning approvals will exacerbate existing 
pressures on health services and education needs within the area which are already 

strained. 
9. The proposal will not accord with the Welsh Government Wellbeing Economics 
Strategy. 

10. New infrastructure and services are required before further housing developments 
can be provided. 

11. The proposal focuses solely on maximisation of profit based on the number of units 
that can be squeezed into the site. 
12. The height of the buildings are out of character with the surrounding built form. 

Whilst two properties at Gwesty Close are much taller in height and comparable to the 
height of the proposed buildings, the overall massing and footprint of the proposed 

buildings are of a much larger scale. 

Page 15



13. The proposed development is intrusive and will give rise to direct overlooking and 
loss of privacy. 

14. Future occupiers will have a clear view into private gardens and habitable rooms. 
15. It is reasonable for residents to enjoy and maintain privacy where it existed 

previously, particularly at first floor level. 
16. The vast amount of windows is an invasion of privacy. 
17. The drawings fail to show the relationship between the development and Waun Y 

Gof House, this is viewed as a deliberate attempt to omit key information. 
18. The buildings will block out a lot of light when there are properties already receiving 

limited light, this situation would be exacerbated during the winter months. 
19. The communal garden areas are too close to neighbouring properties. 
20. Concerns regarding the use of the communal gardens and potential damage to the 

privately owned boundary fence. 
21. The location of the refuse collection area is too close to the neighbouring gardens. 

22. Concerns in relation to odour, vermin and potential impacts on neighbouring 
property by poor management and would only be compounded if CCBC collection 
services reduce. 

23. The proposed development will increase drainage issues at the site and risk water 
damage to neighbouring properties. 

24. The pavement outside Waun Y Gof House is not maintained by the council and 
therefore should not be included in the proposals. 
25. The location of flats directly opposite a school is inappropriate. 

26. Suggests alternative house types for the site. 
27. The lack of green spaces within the village and surrounding areas are declining by 

the day. 
28. Gold crested newts, badgers and hedgehogs require protection from the 
development. 

29. Concerns raised about the future occupiers of the flats. 
30. Confirmation as to whether the apartments will be available for purchase or private 

letting. 
31. The development is advertised as affordable housing but there is fear that the 
development will be passed on to a social landlord. 

32. Requests reassurances that property values and the safety of existing residents will 
not be compromised by any future occupiers. 

33. The Transport Statement contains paragraphs 4.3.10, 4.3.13 and 4.3.14 and draws 
comparisons which have no relevance to the site. 
34. The Transport Statement is flawed by relying on cycling routes when the site can 

only be accessed uphill from all directions and there is no other infrastructure that can 
be relied upon. 

35. There are insufficient parking spaces for an area with minimal transport 
infrastructure. 
36. Visitor parking is not suffice and the highway cannot support on street car parking. 

37. Queries how the parking will be enforced, the 2 bedroom flats may have 2 cars. 
38. The proposed development poses a threat to all highway users. 

39. There is no consideration to the safe access and egress of vehicles entering and 
leaving Waun Y Gof House. 

Page 16



40. Additional levels of noise of vehicles entering, leaving and idling at the site will give 
rise to noise nuisance and disturbance. 

41. Letter from MP setting out the concerns raised by one resident included in the 
above representations 

 
SECTION 17 CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 
 

What is the likely effect of the determination of this application on the need for the Local 
Planning Authority to do all it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area? 

There are no specific crime and disorder implications material to the determination of 
this application. Furthermore, it can be argued that development of the site will prevent 
further vandalism and the attraction of groups/individuals breaking in and entering the 

vacant building at present. 
 

EU HABITATS DIRECTIVE 
 
Does the development affect any protected wildlife species? The application is 

accompanied by an Ecological Impact Assessment Report and Updated Walkover 
Survey where it is confirmed that the vacant building was identified as a day roost for 2 

common pipistrelle bats, along with high levels of foraging/ commuting activity by the 
same species observed in the gardens to the north and along the hedgerow to the east 
of site.  In such instances the Local Authority must apply the following three tests to the 

planning application: 
 

(i) The derogation is in the interests of public health and public safety, or for other 
imperative reasons of overriding public interest, including those of a social or economic 
nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the environment. 

 
(ii) There is no satisfactory alternative. 

 
(iii) The derogation is not detrimental to the maintenance of the population of the 
species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their natural range. 

 
The three tests have been applied and answered as follows: 

 
(i) There are overriding economic, public safety and social reasons to re-develop the 
brownfield sites as the existing building has fallen into a state of disrepair and 

exacerbated by vandalism. Market forces prior to Covid 19 has previously determined 
that the public house was unviable to continue as a business and re-development of the 

site will deliver a number of affordable homes to contribute to the overall housing need 
and shortfall within the County Borough. 
 

ii) An alternative proposal for the building would be to do nothing and allow the vacant 
building to fall into disrepair that would prevent future re-use of the site. It should be 

noted that there is also an extant permission on the site (planning reference 
123/0715/NCC) to partly demolish the existing building and change the use of the 

Page 17



existing Class A3 (public house) and erect new extension to create two Class A1 (retail) 
units, servicing area, car parking and associated works) to extend the lifetime of the 

consent for a further 2 years, that application is the subject of extending the period of 
time to commence the originally approved application in 2019. Whilst all pre-

commencement conditions have been discharged, given the length of time since that 
has lapsed, and the discussions had with commercial operators/ retailers in relation to 
the individual operational requirements it is clear that the site has sufficient constraints 

to prevent conversion of the existing building for retail purposes. Consequently, there is 
no other satisfactory alternative other than to re-develop the site in its entirety. 

 
(iii) The surveys of the site confirmed no presence of bat droppings and extremely low 
numbers (2) of common pipistrelle bats were identified emerging from the building in the 

second dusk emergency survey undertaken to buildings across the site. A detailed 
Method Statement of works will be submitted for the development to minimise any 

impact on the bats providing adequate mitigation for any loss. The favourable 
conservation status of the species is therefore unlikely to be affected by this 
development in that any mitigation sought will maintain and enhance the roosting 

opportunities for common pipistrelle species at this location. 
 

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 
Is this development Community Infrastructure Levy liable? Yes the development is CIL 

liable as new residential floor space is being created. The site is located within the mid 
viability area for which CIL is charged at a rate of £25 per square metre plus indexation. 

 
ANALYSIS 
 

Policies: The application has been considered in accordance with national planning 
policy and guidance, local plan policy and supplementary planning guidance to 

demolish the existing public house and erect residential development of 26 apartments, 
landscaped access, vehicle parking, public open space, and associated works. The loss 
of the public house has previously been considered in association with planning consent 

18/0090/FULL granted in February 2019, therefore the main issues for discussion in the 
determination of this application are: 

 
- The suitability of the site for residential development,  
- Affordable housing provision 

- Planning obligations 
- Placemaking and design 

- Ecology and landscape impacts; 
- The impact upon residential amenity; and 
- The impact upon the highway network; 

 
These issues will be discussed in turn. 

 
THE SUITABILITY OF THE SITE FOR RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

Page 18



 
The application site is a vacant brownfield site located in the Northern Connections 

Corridor (NCC). Policy SP5 (Settlement Boundaries) is the key policy mechanism for 
achieving resource efficient settlements within the LDP. The delineation of the 

settlement boundary defines the area within which development would normally be 
allowed, taking into account material planning considerations. Importantly i t promotes 
the full and effective use of urban land and concentrates development within existing 

settlements. The site is not covered by any allocations or designations according to the 
LDP Proposals Map and in policy terms re-development of the site would be consistent 

with Policy SP5 of the Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021 - 
Adopted 2010 (LDP) in that it promotes the full and effective use of urban land and 
serves to concentrate new development within the existing settlement. 

 
Policy SP2 (Development Strategy in the Northern Connections Corridor (NCC) requires 

development proposals within the NCC to promote sustainable development. 
Specifically proposals in this area should be targeted to both greenfield and brownfield 
sites having regard to the social and economic functions of the area; reduce car borne 

trips by promoting more sustainable modes of travel; make the most efficient use of 
existing infrastructure; and protect the natural heritage from inappropriate forms of 

development. 
 
Policy SP4 (Settlement Strategy) defines the settlement hierarchy for towns and villages 

across the county borough and identifies those areas where development would be 
supported and enhanced based on the specified role and function of a particular area. 

The Strategy seeks to concentrate new development to respond appropriately to the 
economic, social and environmental needs of individual settlements and thus settlement 
boundaries are identified accordingly to indicate the potential areas where development 

is likely to be permitted. Oakdale is identified as a residential area and the application 
site meets the definition of previously developed land (also referred to as brownfield) as 

set out in Planning Policy Wales (PPW). 
 
In settlements, brownfield land should generally be considered suitable for appropriate 

development where its re-use will promote sustainability principles and any constraints 
can be overcome. Policy SP2 also requires that new proposals reduce car borne trips 

by promoting sustainable modes of travel and make the most efficient use of existing 
infrastructure. Chapter 4 of PPW covers the theme of active and social places. With 
respect to transport the planning system should enable people to access jobs and 

services through shorter, more efficient and sustainable journeys, by walking, cycling 
and public transport. The site is within walking distance of a number of local facilities 

including community, education, health services, convenience stores, recreational 
spaces and formal leisure provision together with the nearest Principal Town Centre of 
Blackwood easily accessible by public transport.  

 
Having regard to the above, it is therefore considered that the principle of re-developing 

the site for residential purposes is considered acceptable in land use terms subject to 
satisfying all other material planning considerations. 

Page 19



 
With regards to housing need, Policy SP14 made provision for 10,269 new dwellings in 

the County Borough between 2006 and 2021 in order to deliver the 8,625 new dwellings 
required to meet the moderate growth strategy of the LDP. This equated to an annual 

requirement of 575 dwellings per annum. The most recent Annual Monitoring Report 
(AMR) of the LDP was approved in October 2022 and includes a housing trajectory of 
the 15 year plan period up to 2021 plus 6 years (see Appendix 1 of AMR). This shows 

that the number of dwellings completed has been below the annual requirement of 575 
dwellings per annum since 2008/09 and is forecast to continue to be below this 

requirement for most years up to 2026/27. There is just one exception in the year 
2023/24 where the number of dwelling completions is forecast to be 625 units. The 
affordable housing target of delivering at least 964 affordable units between 2006 and 

2021 (Policy SP15) has also not been met and the AMR continues to recommend that 
proposals for residential development should be considered on their relative merits on a 

site-by-site basis, having regard to the need to increase the housing land supply. 
 
The proposed residential development would provide 26 apartments all of which are 

proposed to be affordable. Whilst the overall amount of housing proposed on the site 
would not make a significant contribution to the overall supply of housing, it would make 

a much needed contribution, particularly in terms affordable housing. Accordingly, the 
proposal would meet the requirements of Policies SP14 and SP15. 
 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
 

In terms of affordable housing Policy CW11 (Affordable Housing Obligations) seeks to 
negotiate the inclusion of an appropriate element of affordable housing on housing 
developments of five or more dwellings. Policy CW11 states: 

  
Legal agreements will be required to ensure that there is provision of an element of 

affordable housing, in accordance with an assessment of local need, for all allocated 
and windfall housing sites that: 
A.      Accommodate 5 or more dwellings or 

B.      Exceed 0.15ha in gross site area, or 
C.      Where the combined product of adjacent housing site proposals would exceed the 

thresholds set in A or B above. 
  
Where there is evidence of need, the Council will seek to negotiate the following 

affordable housing targets of: 
- 40% of the total number of dwellings proposed on sites within the Caerphilly Basin 

(excluding Aber Valley); 
- 25% in the Northern Connections Corridor (excluding Newbridge); and 
- 10% in the Rest of Caerphilly County Borough (including Aber Valley and Newbridge 

but excluding the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area) up to 25% in the Northern 
Connections Corridor subject to viability. 

 

Page 20



The site falls within the Penmaen ward, which attracts an affordable housing target of 
25%. The Council's Housing Enabling Officer has requested that the proposed 

development should provide 25% of the overall number of dwellings proposed as 
affordable housing, this equates to 7 apartments when rounded up.  

 
PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
 

In tandem with Policy CW11 Policy SP7 (Planning Obligations) recognises that new 
development has the potential to increase pressure on existing community facilities and 

as such requires the developer to enter into Planning Obligations to mitigate the effects 
of that development. In the context of this application, the Council will be seeking to 
secure the residential development to provide 25% of the proposed apartments as 

affordable housing. Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposed development seeks to 
provide a 100% affordable housing scheme development, which is over and above the 

required 25% housing target, the Local Planning Authority can only request to secure 
the relevant housing target for the area in terms of any Section 106 agreement. The 
agent on behalf of the developer has provided a statement confirming that they are 

willing to enter into the necessary Section 106 agreement to secure the delivery of 
affordable housing. 

 
PLACEMAKING AND DESIGN 
 

In line with national planning policy, SP6 (Place Making) requires development 
proposals to contribute to the creation of sustainable places by having full regard to the 

context of the local, natural, historic and built environment and its special features. 
Policy SP6 requires new development to incorporate resource efficiency and passive 
solar gain through layout, materials, construction techniques, water conservation and 

where appropriate through the use of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS).  
 

In terms of the design and layout of the proposed development this has responded to 
the existing built form and access arrangements to the site. It should be noted that the 
proposal has evolved through both the pre-application stage and application process in 

response to the requests made by Officers to reduce the overall scale and massing, 
improve the design detailing and roof forms and to provide acceptable levels of amenity 

for existing neighbouring residents and future occupiers of the development. 
 
Each of the two apartment blocks are located towards the southern and eastern 

boundaries to reflect the siting of the vacant public house and promote a sense of place 
and active frontage along Brynhoward Terrace, with the site access and parking 

arrangements remaining in a similar fashion towards the western boundary with 
significant landscaping and useable outdoor amenity space wrapping around areas of 
hard surfacing. Each block is two and a half storeys in height with the roof space 

incorporating projecting gable dormer windows on the principal and side elevations with 
their overall design providing an architectural response to the immediate street scene 

and the wider Oakdale Conservation Area, which is within walking distance to the site. 
 

Page 21



The material palette and design detailing requested by Officers comprises of a variety of 
finishes and whilst the final external finishes have been agreed in principle, it is 

considered necessary for the exact materials to be used to be formally submitted and 
this can be controlled by condition.  

 
It is therefore considered that the proposed development does have regard to the local 
context, is of an appropriate scale and design that would sit comfortably with the context 

of the site and would be in keeping with the character and appearance of the local area 
and wider Oakdale Conservation Area. The landscaping scheme also provides a 

positive contextual response to the streetscene and reinforces the residential role of the 
area. Accordingly, the proposed development would meet the requirements of Policy 
SP6. 

 
In terms of sustainability credentials, the proposed development will adopt modern 

methods of construction and have been designed to comply with Welsh Government's 
Design Quality Requirements (WDQR), and Lifetime Homes standards. They will also 
be non fossil fuel dependent with reliance on air source heat pumps and photovoltaic 

roof arrays in order to achieve the required 'A' rated Energy Performance Certificate 
(EPC) to ensure that the proposed development can be as efficient as possible in terms 

of its carbon footprint and overall heat demand for its future occupiers in order to secure 
the relevant Welsh Government grant funding. 
 

With regards to surface water management the proposed development will require 
Sustainable Urban Drainage approval. The drainage details submitted for consideration 

indicates various drainage attenuation measures to be provided throughout the site 
comprising of bio-retention garden areas, underground tanks, permeable paving and 
large areas of useable open space. Those technical details will require technical 

consideration and separate consent from the Sustainable Drainage Approval Body 
(SAB), an independent approval process outside of planning legislation. 

 
ECOLOGY AND LANDSCAPE IMPACTS 
  

In tandem with criterion D of Policy SP2, Policy SP10 (Conservation of Natural 
Heritage) is of relevance and indicates that the Council will protect, conserve, enhance 

and manage this asset in the consideration of all development proposals. The 
application is supported by an Ecological Impact Appraisal (EIA) Report in response to 
a Preliminary Roost Assessment and a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal originally 

carried out in 2017 and follow up survey in 2022. In 2017 the vacant public house 
offered low potential to support bats, a single bat activity survey was undertaken and no 

bat roosts were identified in the building. In 2022 a change in circumstances to the 
condition of the building as a result of vandalism offered moderate bat roost suitability. 
Two additional bat activity surveys were therefore undertaken.  

 
The 2023 EIA Report incorporates the 2022 survey work with an updated desk based 

assessment and concludes that the building is utilised as a day roost for two pipistrelle 
bats and it cannot be guaranteed that there is no maternity use of the building. Several 

Page 22



recommendations have been made within the EIA Report to mitigate for the loss of the 
roost. The Council's Ecologist has reviewed the PEA and its recommendations and no 

objection is raised subject to the imposition of a condition in relation to a biodiversity 
strategy to secure appropriate mitigation for the day roost and additional biodiversity 

enhancement. Should planning permission be granted a European Protected Species 
(EPC) licence will be required from Natural Resources Wales prior to demolition works 
and as part of obtaining the EPS licence and the developer will need to submit the 

approved biodiversity strategy. 
 

With regards to green infrastructure (GI) there is very little in terms of existing soft 
landscaping or GI features of note within the site as it is occupied by a vacant building 
and the associated parking and hard standing areas. The site does however benefit 

from some small areas of vegetation to the front of the site and a hedgerow behind the 
fence line along the eastern boundary adjacent to the formal open space at Blacksmith 

Close, which is not within the ownership of the landowner. A GI statement, Soft 
Landscaping Scheme, Tree Constraints Plan and Tree Survey accompanies the 
submission. 

 
Policy CW6 (Trees, Woodland and Hedgerow Protection) requires that effective 

measures are taken to ensure the protection of existing trees and hedgerows on 
development sites. There are no trees identified in the site for removal and the 
hedgerow along the eastern boundary is to be retained but has raised some concern in 

terms of future responsibility and maintenance. The hedgerow runs parallel to the site 
boundary but the timber fence demarcates the eastern boundary of the site and the 

hedgerow adjoins the formal leisure allocation and associated public open space within 
the ownership of the Council, therefore the future maintenance of council assets cannot 
be passed on to developers by default. No works are proposed to the hedgerow itself 

but enhancement of new planting species within the site will provide additional foraging 
and connectivity through the site and along its boundaries to connect directly with the 

wider ecological network. The development has been sited away from the hedgerow to 
ensure it is not compromised but should planning permission be granted tree protection 
measures will be sought by condition to protect the hedgerow during the demolition and 

construction phases of the development. 
 

In terms of landscaping, a detailed planting scheme has been submitted and the overall 
design includes a range of GI features to enhance biodiversity across the site and to 
create multi-functional useable outdoor amenity spaces. The Council's Landscape 

Architect has confirmed that the proposed landscaping plan in terms of soft landscaping 
is considered acceptable but further detail is required in terms of the hard surfacing 

materials and the boundary treatments to be erected. It is considered that such matters 
can be addressed via conditions requiring the submission and approval of the additional 
details. Subject to such conditions, there is no reason to indicate that the proposed 

development would not have an unacceptable impact on protected species and the 
natural heritage of the area. Furthermore, the proposed landscaping scheme would 

provide an appropriate visual setting for the proposed development and therefore 
complies with Policies SP10 and CW6. 

Page 23



 
THE IMPACT UPON RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 

 
Policy CW2 (Amenity) states that development proposals must have no unacceptable 

impact on the amenity of adjacent properties or land; would not result in the over-
development of the site; and the proposed use is compatible with surrounding land 
uses. In that regard the proposal is for residential development and is located 

immediately adjacent to two residential estates on the northern side of Brynhoward 
Terrace and directly opposite detached dwellings on the opposite side of Brynhoward 

Terrace. The proposed development is considered to be compatible with surrounding 
land uses and is not considered to be over-development. It should also be noted that 
the former public house would have created a certain amount of traffic, noise and 

general disturbance. 
 

In relation to residential amenity the larger of the two proposed apartment blocks would 
front onto Brynhoward Terrace and would maintain the existing building line. It is 
accepted that the building would be brought closer to the highway at the corner point of 

the southern/ western elevations by 5.3 metres and would be positioned at an angle of 
14 degrees in anti-clockwise direction to that of the existing building. There is a two 

storey dwelling (Waun Y Gof House) directly opposite the site and whilst the proposed 
development is considered to be two and a half storeys in height, it does provide 
residential accommodation over three floors. In that the existing building on the site is 

single storey in height, there is no dispute that the outlook from any habitable windows 
of Waun Y Gof House would change compared to the existing situation and the existing 

separation distances would reduce from approximately 19.9 metres to 14.6 metres, 
nonetheless those distances are across an intervening highway and footpath. Therefore 
the level of direct overlooking between the proposed block 1 building and Waun Y Gof 

House would be no different to that of a traditional street arrangement with dwellings 
brought forward to the front of the highway and the overall height, scale and massing of 

Block 1 is not considered to be overbearing. Furthermore, Future Wales and PPW 
encourage a higher density of residential development within existing settlements. On 
that basis it would be unreasonable for the Local Planning Authority to justify warranting 

refusal of the scheme on loss of privacy, direct overlooking or overbearing to the 
occupiers of Waun Y Gof House. 

 
With regards to the relationship with the residential properties to the west at Clos 
Penywaun, the nearest western side elevation of Block 1 would be sited 15.7 metres 

away from the common boundary and in excess of 32 metres away from the nearest 
habitable room windows. In terms of the western elevation associated with Block 2 to 

the rear of Block 1 those distances increase to 20.6 metres and 33.6 metres 
respectively and the northern elevation of Block 2 would be sited 14.9 metres away from 
the common boundary. Whilst there would be habitable room windows in the western 

and northern elevations the relevant separation distances required are exceeded. 
 

Overall it is not considered that the proposed development will give rise to any 
significant perceived impacts to the nearest residential occupiers in terms of 

Page 24



overbearing, overshadowing and overlooking and as such the proposed development is 
considered to meet the requirements of Policy CW2. 

 
THE IMPACT ON THE HIGHWAY NETWORK 

 
Policy CW3 (Design Considerations - Highways) requires development proposals to 
have regard for the safe, effective and efficient use of the transportation network. A 

Transport Statement (TS) accompanies the planning application submission details and 
in combination provides a comprehensive assessment of the transport implications 

associated with the proposed development. The TS sets out the following: 
Existing conditions regarding the site including location, use, access, road safety 
analysis and travel behaviour; overview of the highway network and vehicular 

connection to and from the site; connectivity of the site by sustainable modes of 
transport; the development proposals and associated highway considerations; along 

with trip generation and traffic impacts. 
 
In that regard the site is located within a relatively sustainable location, with good public 

transport links and the existing vehicular access to the site from Brynhoward Terrace 
would remain unchanged. The proposed development does include a reconfigured 

access arrangement in the form of a dropped kerb arrangement with extended footway 
provision to aid and improve pedestrian activity. The layout also indicates an 
appropriate turning facility for refuse and delivery vehicles to enter and leave the site in 

forward gear. 
 

In terms of parking arrangements off-street car parking is provided at a level of one 
space per apartment (26) and would be unallocated. 1 visitor space is also provided. 
The approach to allow a reduced level of parking on affordable developments has 

previously been considered acceptable at Ton-Y-Felin Farm Lane, Croespenmaen 
(Planning reference: 17/0888/FULL) and more recently on the former Oakdale 

Comprehensive School site (Planning reference: 23/0441/RM). This would be in 
accordance with the maximum parking standards and in accordance with Paragraph 
4.1.51 of PPW whereby it states:- 

 
"A design led approach to the provision of car parking should be taken, which ensures 

an appropriate level of car parking is integrated in a way which does not dominate the 
development. Parking provision should be informed by the local context, including public 
transport accessibility, urban design principles and the objective of reducing reliance on 

the private car and supporting a modal shift to walking, cycling and public transport ... 
among other things, car parking provision should be informed by the local context, 

including public transport accessibility, urban design principles and the objective of 
reducing reliance on the private car and supporting a shift to walking, cycling and public 
transport. Moreover, it states that well designed schemes which keep parking levels 

down, especially off-street parking, must be supported by planning authorities." 
 

This is further reinforced in Policy 12 of Future Wales in respect of car parking matters. 
 

Page 25



In terms of trip generation the proposed development is forecast to generate 6 two-way 
movements during the AM Peak and 7 two-way movements during the PM Peak. This is 

considered to be a minimal level of movements and would not have a material impact 
on the operation of the highway network, particularly so in that the former public house 

would have generated a number of vehicle movements to and from the site. 
 
The Transportation Engineering Manager has reviewed the scheme and confirms that 

the development would provide a shortfall of 10 spaces utilising the maximum standards 
required in Supplementary Planning Guidance LDP 5: Car Parking Standards. However, 

confirms that the 27 spaces indicated equates to 1 space per apartment and one visitor 
space and on balance raises no objection subject to conditions. 
 

CONCLUSION 
 

In conclusion Section 38(6) of the 2004 Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act requires 
a decision on this proposal to be made in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The Adopted Caerphilly County Borough 

Local Development Plan up to 2021 is the development plan for purpose of Section 
38(6). 

 
The site is brownfield land within the defined settlement boundary of Oakdale. The 
proposed development complies with both local and national planning policies, would 

make a positive contribution to addressing the affordable housing targets for the County 
Borough and the surrounding highway network is considered to have sufficient capacity 

to accommodate the modest increase in vehicular movements without having a 
detrimental impact on highway safety. The concerns of statutory consultees can be 
addressed by way of planning conditions and a legal agreement. This application offers 

an opportunity to provide 26 affordable homes within the Northern Connections Corridor 
without causing any significant harmful effects which cannot be successfully mitigated. 

 
A Section 106 Agreement will be required to secure affordable housing provision on the 
site. The applicants have agreed to enter into such an agreement. 

 
The recommendation is to require the applicant to enter into a Section 106 Agreement 

in respect of affordable housing provision. In that regard there are tests for Section 106 
Agreements which have to be met. 
 

These are as follows:- 
 

(a) The financial contribution, arrangements and works contained in the obligation are 
required;  
(b) They are directly related to the development, and; 

(c) They are fairly related in scale and kind to the development. 
 

With regard to criterion (a) there is a need to secure affordable housing provision on-site 
to comply with national and local policy. 

Page 26



 
With regard to criterion (b) the development is located within an area of housing need 

and pressure. The proposal will provide the deliver affordable homes within the local 
community. 

 
With regard to criterion (c) in view of the scale of the development and the proximity to 
the existing community the applicants as a Registered Social Landlord proposes to 

provide 100% affordable housing. This exceeds the 25% affordable housing target in 
the Northern Connections Corridor and is therefore it is only reasonable for the Local 

Planning Authority to secure the maximum 25% affordable housing target. This would 
not prevent the Registered Social Landlord from providing the remainder of the 
apartments as affordable housing. 

 
Comments from Consultees: The comments of consultees have been addressed in the 

report above. 
 
Comments from public: Responses to the representations received are as follows: 

 
1. The change from the previous permission from retail units to flats does not appear to 

be the best form of development for the area. 
LPA RESPONSE: The landowner has explained that the former use of the site as a 
public house became unviable which eventually led to the closure of the business. The 

applicant did originally pursue interest with a commercial/retail operator for a portion of 
the site but the complexities of the operational requirements post planning consent 

made the proposal difficult to deliver. 
 
The development for consideration accords with the role and function of Oakdale and 

the proposed land use responds positively to the immediate and wider surrounding 
area. Furthermore, the provision of affordable housing would assist in meeting an 

identified need within the community. 
 
2. The previous proposal provided more facilities to serve the community. 

LPA RESPONSE: Please refer to point 1 above. 
 

3. The development does not meet the needs of the community. 
LPA RESPONSE: The scheme will deliver 26 affordable apartments comprising of a 
combination of 1 and 2 bedroom accommodation, which is understood to have been 

informed by the local housing need within the area. In turn this will help contribute to 
alleviating the increasing affordable housing need within the local community.  

 
4. CCBC keep accepting different proposals on the site in the hope of wearing down 
objecting residents. 

LPA RESPONSE: This is outside of the control of the Local Planning Authority (LPA). 
The role of the authority is to assess each application on its individual merits in 

accordance with national planning policy and guidance, the local development plan and 
supplementary planning guidance.  

Page 27



 
5. The number of changing proposals for the site has impacted the health and wellbeing 

of residents. 
LPA RESPONSE: Whilst change can be unnerving for local residents, their 

representations have been considered as part of the PAC and the consultation exercise 
as part of the application. The responses to points 1 and 4 above provides clarification 
on such matters and the role of the LPA. 

 
6. Suggests alternative uses for the site. 

LPA RESPONSE: This is outside the scope of the LPA to consider, please refer to point 
4. 
 

7. The infrastructure and services available in Oakdale do not support such a large 
development of flats. 

LPA RESPONSE: The number of apartments proposed is not significant or 
disproportionate to the overall settlement and will not result in any undue pressure to 
the wider community. Furthermore, it could also be viewed that the additional homes 

created will help to support existing shops and services through the increased demand. 
 

8. The development amongst other recent planning approvals will exacerbate existing 
pressures on health services and education needs within the area which are already 
strained. 

LPA RESPONSE: See response to point 7. The Council's Education Department has 
confirmed that there is adequate provision to accommodate pupils. Aneurin Bevan 

Health Board is a consultee of the Local Development Plan process and as such would 
have been fully informed of the number of new dwellings required to meet the predicted 
growth strategy. 

 
9. The proposal will not accord with the Welsh Government Wellbeing Economics 

Strategy. 
LPA RESPONSE: The Well-being of Future Generations Act looks to achieve 
economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing and the various considerations 

are linked to one another. Economic factors relate to reinforcing local workforces and 
providing housing in prosperous locations, which this scheme will promote.  

 
10. New infrastructure and services are required before further housing developments 
can be provided. 

LPA RESPONSE: Please refer to the responses to points 7 and 8 above.  
 

11. The proposal focuses solely on maximisation of profit based on the number of units 
that can be squeezed into the site. 
LPA RESPONSE: The development sought exceeds the affordable housing policy 

requirements for the area which is 25%. Should planning permission be granted it is to 
be delivered and managed by a Registered Social Landlord who are a not-for-profit 

organisation.  
 

Page 28



12. The height of the buildings are out of character with the surrounding built form. 
Whilst two properties at Gwesty Close are much taller in height and comparable to the 

height of the proposed buildings, the overall massing and footprint of the proposed 
buildings are of a much larger scale. 

LPA RESPONSE: Several revisions have been made during the application process to 
respond to the requests of the Placemaking Officer. The development includes 
architectural forms and features which are evident within the local vernacular along with 

a material palette considered appropriate for its context along with the site levels and 
surrounding context paying particular regard to the nearest residential properties. 

 
13. The proposed development is intrusive and will give rise to direct overlooking and 
loss of privacy. 

14. Future occupiers will have a clear view into private gardens and habitable rooms. 
15. It is reasonable for residents to enjoy and maintain privacy where it existed 

previously, particularly at first floor level. 
16. The vast amount of windows is an invasion of privacy. 
LPA RESPONSE: In response to points 13-16 the impact upon the residential amenity 

of existing occupiers has been fully considered. The separation distances from the 
proposed development to the boundaries of the site and to adjacent properties are 

considered to be acceptable and in compliance with amenity standards. Where those 
distances are less it results in opposing principal elevations between Block 1 and Waun 
Y Gof House on the opposite side of the highway. In this instance, the relationship 

would be no different to that of any other typical residential street arrangement.  
 

17. The drawings fail to show the relationship between the development and Waun Y 
Gof House, this is viewed as a deliberate attempt to omit key information. 
LPA RESPONSE: The street scenes and context elevations provided illustrate the 

relationship between the site, the development proposals, and the existing neighbouring 
properties within the immediate locality, including Waun Y Gof House, located on the 

opposite side of the highway.  
 
18. The buildings will block out a lot of light when there are properties already receiving 

limited light, this situation would be exacerbated during the winter months. 
LPA RESPONSE: The impact upon the residential amenity of existing occupiers has 

been fully considered and the siting and orientation of each block avoids any significant 
overshadowing or loss of light to existing properties. 
 

19. The communal garden areas are too close to neighbouring properties. 
LPA RESPONSE: The proposed proximity of the communal garden to existing gardens 

is not an unacceptable relationship. Furthermore, the increased level of soft landscaping 
and the removal of the public house could be considered to offer some amenity benefits 
when compared to the historic uses associated with the former public house and 

external areas. 
 

20. Concerns regarding the use of the communal gardens and potential damage to the 
privately owned boundary fence.  

Page 29



LPA RESPONSE: The landscaping scheme indicates planting along the neighbouring 
fence at the northern boundary of the site. A knee rail is also proposed at the top of the 

embankment that will deter potential access from the main useable open space area. 
 

21. The location of the refuse collection area is too close to the neighbouring gardens. 
22. Concerns in relation to odour, vermin and potential impacts on neighbouring 
property by poor management and would only be compounded if CCBC collection 

services reduce. 
LPA RESPONSE: In response to points 21 and 22 the refuse/recycling store has been 

relocated into the main body of the site, away from the boundaries of the neighbouring 
properties at the request of the LPA. All refuse and recycling will be contained within a 
concealed store and will be provided with wash down facilities. This is considered to be 

an acceptable approach to prevent any potential odour and vermin issues.  
 

23. The proposed development will increase drainage issues at the site and risk water 
damage to neighbouring properties. 
LPA RESPONSE: Surface water drainage proposals have been built into the design 

albeit these will be subject to a separate vetting and approval process. This would also 
require separate sustainable urban drainage (SAB) approval from the Local Lead Flood 

Authority (LLFA). The drainage scheme submitted will need to comply with Schedule 3 
to the Flood and Water Management Act (2010) and satisfy the LLFA that the proposed 
development would not lead to any adverse impacts on the existing hydrology of the 

area. Such considerations will include demonstrating opportunities to tackle climate 
change effects in flooding, prevent groundwater contamination and integrate water 

sensitive urban design solutions to the design of the development, all of which will need 
to be supported by robust drainage calculations. 
 

24. The pavement outside Waun Y Gof House is not maintained by the council and 
therefore should not be included in the proposals.  

LPA RESPONSE: The pavement outside Waun Y Gof House on the opposite side of 
the highway is not included within the application site boundary and does not form part 
of the development for consideration.  

 
25. The location of flats directly opposite a school is inappropriate. 

LPA RESPONSE: There is no reason to suggest why an apartment block is not an 
acceptable form of development within the wider residential context or within walking 
distance to a school, with the nearest school located 550 metres away from the site.  

 
26. Suggests alternative house types for the site. 

LPA RESPONSE: The development sought responds to the local housing needs 
assessment and the housing mix has been informed by discussions with the Council's 
Housing Officers. 

 
27. The lack of green spaces within the village and surrounding areas are declining by 

the day. 

Page 30



LPA RESPONSE: The development does not reduce any existing useable green space 
within Oakdale. Moreover, the development incorporates areas of useable outdoor 

space for future residents to enjoy and will result in a net increase in soft landscaping 
and open space when compared to the existing situation.  

 
28. Gold crested newts, badgers and hedgehogs require protection from the 
development. 

LPA RESPONSE: Ecological surveys have been carried out and no evidence of 
badgers, great crested newts, or hedgehogs were found within the site. Much of the site 

is made up of hardstanding which comprises of tarmacadam with some limited 
vegetated verges and ornamental planting.  
 

29. Concerns raised about the future occupiers of the flats. 
LPA RESPONSE: This is not a material planning consideration. 

 
30. Confirmation as to whether the apartments will be available for purchase or private 
letting. 

31. The development is advertised as affordable housing but there is fear that the 
development will be passed on to a social landlord. 

LPA RESPONSE: In response to points 30 and 31 the apartments are to be made 
available as affordable housing and are to be managed by a Registered Social 
Landlord. Any future occupiers will be taken from an assigned qualifying waiting list. 

 
32. Requests reassurances that property values and the safety of existing residents will 

not be compromised by any future occupiers. 
LPA RESPONSE: This is not a material planning consideration. 
 

33. The Transport Statement contains paragraphs 4.3.10, 4.3.13 and 4.3.14 and draws 
comparisons which have no relevance to the site. 

LPA RESPONSE: The accompanying Transport Statement provides clarity on the 
parking arrangements for future residents, which include one space per apartment, plus 
one additional visitor space. 

 
34. The Transport Statement is flawed by relying on cycling routes when the site can 

only be accessed uphill from all directions and there is no other infrastructure that can 
be relied upon. 
LPA RESPONSE: The streets within the vicinity of the site are considered conducive to 

cycling, encouraged by 20-30mph speed limits. There is a National Cycle Network route 
(NCN467) within 2km of the site. There are also bus stops within walking distance of the 

site providing access to Oakdale and the wider areas of Newbridge and Blackwood. 
 
35. There are insufficient parking spaces for an area with minimal transport 

infrastructure. 
36. Visitor parking is not suffice and the highway cannot support on street car parking. 

LPA RESPONSE: In response to points 35 and 36 the development will provide one off-
street car parking space per apartment, with one extra space for visitors use. The 

Page 31



provision offered has been considered by the Transportation Engineering Manager and 
no objection is raised given the sustainability credentials of the site and the anticipated 

low car ownership of future residents. 
 

37. Queries how the parking will be enforced, the 2 bedroom flats may have 2 cars. 
LPA RESPONSE: It is unlikely that demand will exceed the supply of parking spaces on 
the basis that car ownership for these types of units is typically lower. No objection has 

been raised by the Transportation Engineering Manager in relation to unallocated 
parking provision within the site. 

 
38. The proposed development poses a threat to all highway users. 
39. There is no consideration to the safe access and egress of vehicles entering and 

leaving Waun Y Gof House. 
40. Additional levels of noise of vehicles entering, leaving and idling at the site will give 

rise to noise nuisance and disturbance. 
LPA RESPONSE: In response to points 38-40 the Transport Assessment confirms that 
the scheme would not have an unacceptable impact on safety, with footways and 

footpaths within the site separating pedestrians from vehicles, and the access 
arrangements being formalised and improved in comparison to the existing dropped 

kerb which extends over a larger width of the site frontage. There is no evidence of a 
safety issue in relation to the existing site use and access, and the proposed 
improvements to the access, and minimal vehicle movements generated by the scheme 

would therefore not lead to an unacceptable impact on safety or give rise to 
unacceptable levels of noise.  

It should also be noted that the historic use of the site would have attracted a number of 
associated vehicle movements, including delivery and servicing vehicles. 
 

41. Letter from MP setting out the concerns raised by one resident included in the 
above representations 

LPA RESPONSE: These matters have all been addressed in the detailed responses 
provided above. 
 

Other material considerations: Paragraph 1.18 of PPW states:- 
"A plan-led approach is the most effective way to secure sustainable development 

through the planning system and it is essential that plans are adopted and kept under 
review. Legislation secures a presumption in favour of sustainable development in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 

otherwise to ensure that social, economic, cultural and environmental issues are 
balanced and integrated." 

 
Paragraph 4.2.2 of PPW states:- 
"The planning system must: 

- identify a supply of land to support the delivery of the housing requirement to meet the 
differing needs of communities across all tenures; 

- enable provision of a range of well designed, energy efficient, good quality market and 
affordable housing that will contribute to the creation of 

Page 32



sustainable places; and 
- focus on the delivery of the identified housing requirement and the related land 

supply." 
 

Paragraph 4.2.26 of PPW states: 
"A community's need for affordable housing is a material planning consideration which 
must be taken into account in formulating development plan policies and determining 

relevant planning applications." 
 

In conclusion Section 38(6) of the 2004 Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act requires 
a decision on this proposal to be made in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The Adopted Caerphilly County Borough 

Local Development Plan up to 2021 is the development plan for purpose of Section 
38(6). 

 
Having regard to the above, the proposed development site's designation as an 
allocated housing site reinforces its accordance with national policy and guidance 

together with the local planning policies. 
 

The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, has been considered in accordance with the sustainable development principle, 
under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. In reaching 

the recommendation below, the ways of working set out at section 5 of that Act have 
been taken into account, and it is considered that the recommendation is consistent with 

the sustainable development principle as required by section 8 of that Act. 
 
Future Wales - The National Plan 2040 was published on 24 February 2021 and forms 

part of the statutory development plan for the county borough. In addition to this 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) has been amended to take account of Future Wales and 

PPW Edition 12 has also been published on 7th February 2024.  In reaching the 
conclusion below full account has been taken of both Future Wales and PPW Edition 12 
and where they are particularly pertinent to the consideration of the proposals they have 

been considered as part of the officer's report. It is considered that the 
recommendation(s) in respect of the proposals is (are) in conformity with both Future 

Wales and PPW Edition 12. 
 
RECOMMENDATION that (A) the application be deferred to allow the applicants to 

enter into a Section 106 Obligation to provide the following:- 
 

1. 25% provision of Affordable Housing. 
 
On completion of the Section 106 Obligation that (B) planning permission is granted 

subject to the following conditions. 
 

If the obligation is not completed within three months of the resolution to approve, that 
the Head of Planning and Regeneration be granted delegated powers to refuse the 

Page 33



application for failure to comply with Policy CW11 of the Caerphilly County Borough 
Local Development Plan up to 2021 - Adopted November 2010. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION that Permission be GRANTED 
 
This permission is subject to the following condition(s) 

 
 

01) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five 
years from the date of this permission. 

 REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 
 

02) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans and documents:  

 Dwg No. A100 Site Location Plan received on 20.03.2024; 

 Dwg No. A102 Proposed Site Layout received on 16.05.2024; 
 Dwg No. A103 Block 1 - Ground Floor Plan received on 16.05.2024; 

 Dwg No. A104 Block 1 - First Floor Plan received on 16.05.2024; 
 Dwg No. A105 Block 1 - Second Floor Plan received on 16.05.2024; 
 Dwg No. A106 Block 1 - Elevations received on 16.05.2024; 

 Dwg No. A107 Block 2 - Ground Floor Plan received on 16.05.2024; 
 Dwg No. A108 Block 2 - First Floor Plan received on 16.05.2024; 

 Dwg No. A109 Block 2 - Second Floor Plan received on 16.05.2024; 
 Dwg No. A110 Block 2 - Elevations received on 16.05.2024; 
 Dwg No. A111 Context Elevations received on 16.05.2024; 

 Dwg No. A116 Street Scene received on 16.05.2024; 
 Dwg No. A120 Additional Sections received on 16.05.2024; 

 Dwg No. C23097-ATP-DR-TP-001 Swept Path Analysis - Large Car received on 
20.03.2024; 

 Dwg No. C23097-ATP-DR-TP-001 Swept Path Analysis - Refuse Vehicle 

received on 20.03.2024; 
 Dwg No. C23097-ATP-DR-TP-003 General arrangement of Proposed Dropped 

Kerb Access received on 20.03.2024; 
 Dwg No.1174.01 Rev D Soft Landscape Proposals received on 20.03.2024; 
 Tree Constraints Plan received on 20.12.2024; 

 Ecological Impact Assessment (Bats and Nesting Birds) received on 20.12.2024; 
 Ecological Walkover Survey Update Note received on 20.12.2024; 

 Tree Survey received on 20.12.2024; and 
 Transport Statement received on 20.12.2024. 
 REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out only as approved by the 

Local Planning Authority. 
 

03) Prior to the commencement of the development on site full details of the tree 
protection measures for the existing trees, shrubs and hedges growing adjacent 

Page 34



to the site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These measures shall be set out in a detailed Arboricultural Method 

Statement to include a plan clearly showing the location and specification of the 
protective fencing. The approved protective fencing must be installed prior to the 

commencement of the development and thereafter retained intact for the full 
duration of the construction works and there shall be no access, storage, ground 
disturbance or contamination within the fenced area without the prior written 

approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
 REASON: To ensure the satisfactory protection of trees, shrubs and hedges in 

accordance with policies CW2 and CW6 of the adopted Caerphilly County 
Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 

04) Prior to any demolition works commencing on site, a Biodiversity Strategy shall 
be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

Biodiversity Strategy shall include details of a replacement bat roost (to be 
mirrored in the NRW licence application), provision of 4No. 3-chamber woodcrete 
Swift boxes to be erected at the gable apex of the new build, including provision 

of monitoring; provision of a Boundary Treatments Plan demonstrating hedgehog 
access through all new boundaries and use of native species in the landscaping 

scheme. The approved measures shall be provided prior to the occupation of the 
development and retained in situ for a minimum of 5 calendar years from the 
completion of the development. 

 REASON: To provide biodiversity conservation and enhancement measures, in 
accordance policies CW4 and SP10 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough 

Local Development Plan up to 2021, Part 1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) 
Act 2016, policy contained in Planning Policy Wales (2024) and Technical Advice 
Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009). 

 
05) Prior to the commencement of the development a scheme for surfacing of the 

internal pathways to include details of size, texture, colour and edging shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be surfaced in accordance with the agreed scheme and 

maintained as such thereafter. 
 REASON: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with 

policies CW2 and SP6 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local 
Development Plan up to 2021. 

 

06) All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any 

part of the development or in accordance with a programme agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 
years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become 

seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives 

written consent to any variation. 

Page 35



 REASON: To ensure that the works are carried out as approved in the interests 
of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with policies CW2 and SP6 of the 

adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 
 

07) Prior to the commencement of the development a scheme shall be submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority indicating the positions, 
design, height, materials and type of all boundary treatments to be erected 

including the retaining walls and knee rails as indicated on Dwg No. A102 
Proposed Site Layout and Dwg No.1174.01 Rev D Soft Landscape Proposals. 

The boundary treatment shall be completed in accordance with the approved 
details before the development is occupied.  

 REASON: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area amenity in 

accordance with policy CW2 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local 
Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
08) No development shall commence on site until a Construction Method Statement 

has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

Construction Method Statement shall include details of: 
 - hours of working; 

 - the on-site parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
 - loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
 - storage of plant and materials used during construction works; 

 - the management of vehicular and pedestrian traffic. 
 - wheel washing facilities; 

 - the sheeting of lorries leaving the site; 
 - the erection and maintenance of security hoardings; 
 - measures to control noise during construction works; 

 - measures to control pollution from plant and runoff; 
 - measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction works; 

and  
 - details of a scheme for the recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 

construction works.  

 Thereafter the demolition and construction of the development shall be 
undertaken in accordance with the approved Construction Method Statement. 

 REASON: In the interests of amenity and highway safety in accordance with 
policies CW2 and CW3 of the Caerphilly County Borough Local Development 
Plan up to 2021. 

 
09) The development shall not be occupied until the area indicated for the parking of 

vehicles has been laid out in accordance with the submitted plans and that area 
shall not thereafter be used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles. 

 REASON: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy CW3 of 

the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 
 

10) Notwithstanding the approved layout, no development shall commence until 
details indicating the provision of an adequate vehicular footway crossover to 

Page 36



serve the proposed development have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority and shall thereafter be fully implemented in 

accordance with the approved details prior to beneficial occupation of the 
development. 

 REASON: To ensure the adequacy of the proposed means of access, in the 
interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic in accordance with policy 
CW3 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 

2021. 
 

11) Prior to the commencement of the development above Damp Proof Course 
(DPC) level, details of the layout, design and appearance of the covered cycle 
store as indicated on Dwg No. A102 Proposed Site Layout shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The cycle store shall be 
provided in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of the 

development, and maintained as such thereafter. 
 REASON: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy CW3 of 

the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
12) Rainwater run-off associated with the development hereby approved shall not 

discharge into the highway surface-water drainage system. 
 REASON: To safeguard the highway drainage system in accordance with policy 

CW5 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 

2021. 
 

13) Prior to the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 
approved details of the materials to be used shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out 

in accordance with the approved details. 
 REASON: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with 

policy CW2 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan 
up to 2021. 

 

14) Before any soils or hardcore that do not fall within the green category set out in 
Table 2 of the WLGA document 'Requirements for the Chemical Testing of 

Imported Materials for Various End Uses and Validation of Cover Systems 2013' 
are brought on to site, a scheme for their importation and testing for 
contamination shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning 

Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved scheme. 

 REASON: In the interests of public health and in accordance with Policy CW2 of 
the Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 

  

Page 37



Advisory Note(s) 
 

Please refer to Public Access on the Council's website to view the comments of the 
consultees that are brought to the applicant's attention. Informative information is also 

provided. 
 
Warning: A European protected species (EPS) Licence is required for this development.  

This planning permission does not provide consent to undertake works that require a 
EPS licence.  

It is an offence to deliberately capture, kill or disturb EPS or to recklessly damage or 
destroy their breeding sites or resting places. If found guilty of any offences, you could 
be sent to prison for up to 6 months and/or receive an unlimited fine.  

To undertake the works within the law, you can obtain further information on the need 
for a licence from Natural Resources Wales on 0300 065 3000 or at 

https://naturalresources.wales/conservation-biodiversity-and-wildlife/european-
protected-species/?lang+en 
 

Many species of bat depend on buildings for roosting, with each having its own 
preferred type of roost. Most species roost in crevices such as under ridge tiles, behind 

roofing felt or in cavity walls and are therefore not often seen in the roof space. Bat 
roosts are protected even when bats are temporarily absent because, being creatures 
of habit, they usually return to the same roost site every year. Bats are protected under 

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended), which 
implements the EC Directive 92/43/EEC in the United Kingdom, and the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). Please be advised that, if bats are discovered, all 
works should stop immediately and Natural Resources Wales (NRW) should be 
contacted for advice on any special precautions before continuing. 

 
Please also be advised that works should not take place that will disturb nesting birds 

from March to July inclusive. All British birds (while nesting, building nests and sitting on 
eggs), their nests and eggs (with certain limited exceptions) are protected by law under 
Section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Countryside 

and Rights of Way Act 2000. If birds are nesting on/in or within the vicinity of the 
proposed development, work should be undertaken outside the breeding season for 

birds to ensure their protection, i.e. works should only be undertaken between August 
and February. Further advice on the above can be sought from the local authority 
ecologists (01495 235253) or Natural Resources Wales (NRW) (029 20 772400). 

 
The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may contain 

unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If any coal mining feature is encountered 
during development, this should be reported immediately to the Coal Authority on 0345 
762 6848. 

  
Further information is also available on the Coal Authority website at: 

www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority. 
 

Page 38



WARNING:  
SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE APPROVAL IS REQUIRED PRIOR TO 

COMMENCEMENT OF THIS DEVELOPMENT. 
  

Please note from the 7th January 2019, Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 commenced in Wales requiring all new developments of more 
than one house or where the construction area is of 100m2 or more to implement 

sustainable drainage to manage on-site surface water. Surface water drainage systems 
must be designed and built in accordance with mandatory standards for sustainable 

drainage published by Welsh Ministers.  
  
The Sustainable Drainage Approval process is a technical approval independent of the 

need to obtain planning permission, and as such you are advised to contact the 
Sustainable Drainage Approval Body. Their details are provided below: 

  
Phone: 01443 866511 
Email: drainage@caerphilly.gov.uk   

Website: www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sab 
 

Notification of initiation of development and display of notice: 
You must comply with your duties in section 71ZB (notification of initiation of 
development and display of notice: Wales) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  

The duties include: 
  

Notice of initiation of development: 
Before beginning any development to which this planning permission relates, notice 
must be given to the local planning authority in the form set out in Schedule 5A to the 

town and Country Planning (development Management procedure) (Wales) Order 2012  
or in a form substantially to the like effect. The form sets out the details which must be 

given to the local planning authority to comply with this duty. 
  
Display of Notice: 

The person carrying out the development to which this planning permission relates must 
display at or near the place where the development is being carried out, at all times 

when it is being carried out, a notice of this planning permission in the form set out in 
Schedule 5B to the Town and country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Wales) Order 2012 or in a form substantially to the like effect.  The form sets out the 

details the person carrying out development must display to comply with this duty. 
The person carrying out the development must ensure the notice is: 

(a)       Firmly affixed and displayed in a prominent place at or near the place where the 
development is being carried out; 
(b)       legible and easily visible to the public without having to enter the site; and 

(c)        printed on durable material. The person carrying out development should take 
reasonable steps to protect the notice (against it being removed, obscured or defaced) 

and, if need be, replace it. 
 

Page 39



NOTE: 
Prior to the demolition, the applicant is advised to undertake an asbestos survey to 

ensure that any asbestos containing material is identified and removed by a competent 
contractor to achieve compliance with the Control of Asbestos Regulations. 

 
NOTE: 
The applicant is encouraged to liaise with the Council's Highway Development Control 

team with regard to its requirements for the vehicular footway crossover. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 40



23/0882/FULL 

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42



Application Number: 24/0299/RM 
 

Date Received: 19.04.2024 

 
Applicant: Llanmoor Development Company Limited 

 
Description and Location of Development:  Seek approval of Reserved Matters for 

details of access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale in relation to the outline 
planning consent 21/0005/OUT with details for the construction of 67 residential units 

including parking, drainage and associated highway works, together with the discharge 
of conditions 1, 9, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18 and 19 - Land Off Tir Y Wen North Of Bedwellty 
Road Aberbargoed   
 
APPLICATION TYPE: Approval of Reserved Matters 

 
SITE AND DEVELOPMENT 
 

Location: The application site collectively comprises of three individual parcels of land to 
the north and south of Bedwellty Road on the eastern edge of Aberbargoed and is 

located amongst four self-build developments along Lon Ty Gwyn on the northern side 
of Bedwellty Road and two residential estates on the southern side of Bedwellty Road, 
namely Y Ffordd Wen and Cwrt Neuadd Wen. 

 
Site description: The area of the proposed housing on the northern side of Bedwellty 

Road essentially comprises of two fields parcels separated by a traditional stone wall 
measuring some 2.41 hectares and wraps around the side and rear boundaries of the 
four self build dwellings along Lon Ty Gwyn and to the west of a triangular shaped field 

parcel associated with Tir Neuaddwen Farm. 
 

The smaller parcel of land on the southern side of Bedwellty Road measures some 
0.066 hectares and is located adjacent to the eastern side boundary of No.1 Y Ffordd 
Wen and to the rear of the bus stop and telegraph pole positioned adjacent to the 

highway. 
 

Development: The application seeks approval of the reserved matters for access, 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale in relation to the outline planning consent 
21/0005/OUT with details for the construction of 67 residential units including parking, 

drainage and associated highway works, together with the discharge of conditions 01, 
09, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18 and 19. 

 
The proposed development would provide 67 residential units that comprise of a 
mixture of 2, 3 and 4 bedroom houses and 1 bedroom walk-up apartments. The 

residential units would all be 2 storeys in height and the mixed tenure would comprise of 
59 general market homes and 8 affordable homes. POBL Housing Association is 

identified as the Registered Social Landlord that would manage the affordable housing 
element of the scheme. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5



 
The reserved matters details are supported by the following reports: 

-Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement; 
- Tree Survey; 

- Tree Constraints Plan; 
- Tree Protection Plan; 
- Ecological Appraisal; 

- Reptile Mitigation Strategy (Appendix 4 of Ecological Appraisal);  
- Landscape, Biodiversity and Amenity Strategy; 

- Planting and Management Plan; 
- Drainage Proposals; and 
- Design Compliance Statement. 

 
In terms of the details to discharge conditions 01, 09, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18 and 19. of 

outline planning consent 21/0005/OUT the following has been submitted:- 
Condition 01 - The submission details to accompany this reserved matters application. 
Condition 09 - Technical Note - Window Glazing. 

Condition 13 - Statement confirming implementation of the Local Area of Play (LAP) 
along with Site Layout Plan, Landscape, Biodiversity and Amenity Strategy and  

Planting and Management Plan. 
Condition 14 - Existing Site Survey; Topographical Survey Sheets, Proposed Site 
Sections, Proposed External Levels and Proposed Detention Basin Levels. 

Condition 15 - Ecological Appraisal and Reptile Mitigation Strategy (Appendix 4 of 
Ecological Appraisal). 

Condition 16 - Tree Constraints Plan, Tree Protection Plan, Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement. 
Condition 18 - An Electric Vehicle Charging Point Layout. 

Condition 19 - A statement confirming the required gigabit capable fibre infrastructure 
will be provided. 

 
Dimensions: The dwellings proposed are of varying dimensions and house types. The 
parameters for the dimensions of each dwelling accord with the scale parameters 

agreed by outline planning permission 21/0005/OUT. 
 

Materials: The external finishes comprise of Marley Modern smooth grey roof tiles with a 
combination of Ibstock Wellbeck Autumn Antique facing brick, Forticrete Shearstone 
Pentstone Cottage dressed Stone, Athens Sand Monorex smooth render, Anthracite 

Cedral Weatherboard Cladding combined with contrasting window surrounds for the 
relevant house types. All windows comprise of grey upvc with matching facias, soffits 

and barge boards. 
 
Ancillary development, e.g. parking: Each dwelling will be served by the appropriate 

levels of car parking in accordance with Supplementary Planning Guidance LDP 5: Car 
Parking Standards through a combination of off-street parking and garages. In addition 

provision has been made to provide 14 visitor parking bays and a dedicated 
maintenance parking bay to serve the on-site drainage features. 

Page 44



 
PLANNING HISTORY 2010 TO PRESENT 12/0104/NCC - Vary Condition 03 of 

planning permission P/06/0671 to extend the period for the submission of reserved 
matters by a further three years - Granted - 04/10/2013. 

 
21/0005/OUT - Erect residential development of up to 76 No. dwellings with parking, 
landscaping and associated works, across two parcels of land to the north of Bedwellty 

Road and to the south of Bedwellty Road - Granted - 13.06.2023. 
 

24/0215/COND - Discharge of condition 6 (Site investigation) of Planning Permission 
21/0005/OUT (Erect residential development of up to 76 No. dwellings with parking, 
landscaping and associated works, across two parcels of land to the north of Bedwellty 

Road and to the south of Bedwellty Road) - Granted - 04.06.2024. 
 

24/0306/COND - Discharge Condition 11 (Travel Plan) 12 (Construction Method 
Statement) and 17 (Potable Water) of planning consent 21/0005/OUT (Erect residential 
development of up to 76 No. dwellings with parking, landscaping and associated works, 

across two parcels of land to the north of Bedwellty Road and to the south of Bedwellty 
Road) - Granted - 04.06.2024. 

 
 
POLICY 

 
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up 

to 2021 - adopted November 2010. 
 
Site Allocation: The majority of the application site is located within the Aberbargoed 

settlement boundary however the settlement boundary has been drawn in a manner 
that does not align with the existing field parcel and as such the application site does 

extend beyond the definitive settlement boundary by a minimum distance of 12.5 metres 
and maximum distance of 37 metres on the eastern field parcel to the north west of Tir 
Neuaddwen Farm. 

 
The section of land which extends beyond the settlement boundary falls within a 

Sandstone Safeguarding Area (SP8) and Coal Safeguarding Area (MN2.5) East of 
Markham. 
 

More recently outline planning consent 21/0005/OUT was granted in 2023 to erect a 
residential development of up to 76 No. dwellings on the site across two parcels of land 

to the north and south of Bedwellty Road. This is a material planning consideration. 
 
Policies: The Policies of relevance in the Local Development Plan are:- 

 
Strategic Policies 

Policy SP1 Development Strategy - Development in the Heads of the Valleys 
Regeneration Area (HOVRA); 

Page 45



Policy SP4 Settlement Strategy; 
Policy SP5 Settlement Boundaries; 

Policy SP6 Placemaking; 
Policy SP7 Planning Obligations; 

Policy SP8 Minerals Safeguarding; 
Policy SP10 Conservation of Natural Heritage; 
Policy SP14 Total Housing Requirements; and 

Policy SP15 Affordable Housing Target. 
 

Countywide Policies 
Policy CW1 Sustainable Transport, Accessibility and Social Inclusion; 
Policy CW2 Amenity; 

Policy CW3 Design Considerations - Highways; 
Policy CW4 Natural Heritage Protection; 

Policy CW5 Protection of the Water Environment; 
Policy CW6 Trees, Woodland and Hedgerow Protection; 
Policy CW10 Leisure and Open Space Provision; 

Policy CW11 Affordable Housing Planning Obligation; 
Policy CW15 General Locational Constraints; 

Policy CW22 Locational Constraints: Minerals; 
Policy MN2 Minerals Safeguarding; and 
Policy HG1 Allocated Housing Sites. 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 

LDP1: Affordable Housing Obligations; 
LDP4: Trees and Development; 
LDP5: Car Parking Standards; and 

LDP6: Building Better Places to Live. 
 

NATIONAL POLICY Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 
Policy 2 Shaping Urban Growth and Regeneration - Strategic Placemaking; 
Policy 7 Delivering Affordable Homes; 

Policy 9 Resilient Ecological Networks and Green Infrastructure; 
Policy 12 Regional Connectivity; and 

Policy 13 Supporting Digital Communications. 
 
Planning Policy Wales Edition 12, February 2024; 

 
Technical Advice Note 2: Planning and Affordable Housing; 

Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning; 
Technical Advice Note 11: Noise; 
Technical Advice Note 16: Sport Recreation and Open Space; and 

Technical Advice Note 18: Transport. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

Page 46



Did the application have to be screened for an EIA? No in that the proposed 
development does not reach the 150 dwellings threshold as set out in Schedule 2 Part 

10 (Infrastructure projects) of The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2017. 

 
Was an EIA required? No. 
 

COAL MINING LEGACY 
 

Is the site within an area where there are mining legacy issues? The application site is 
located within a low risk coal mining referral area but lies immediately adjacent to a high 
risk coal mining referral area. The Coal Authority has been consulted on the application 

and standing advice is provided by way of an informative note to be added to any 
consent if granted. 

 
CONSULTATION 
 

Landscape Architect - CCBC - The amended plans and information submitted are 
considered to be acceptable. 

 
Senior Arboricultural Officer (Trees) - No comments received since amended plans 
were submitted. 

 
Bargoed Town Council - No objection. 

 
Transportation Engineering Manager - CCBC - The proposed development makes 
provision for 178 allocated off-street spaces for residents. There are also 14 on-street 

spaces for short terms visitor parking identified that do not unduly affect highway safety 
nor the free follow of traffic. As such, the development gives no undue cause for 

concern regarding off-street parking provision.  
 
The proposed means of access, internal roads and off-site highway works give no 

undue cause for concern subject to full engineering design and detail, which can be 
ensured via planning condition. 

 
Informative advice is also provided regarding the technical S38/278 Highway 
Agreements required. 

 
Environmental Health Manager - This department would recommend the discharge of 

Condition 9 following review of the glazing information submitted as part of the 
application. It is recommended that glazing is installed within all habitable rooms on 
facades in exposure zones 1 and 2 susceptible to noise impacts as detailed in acoustic 

report: Noise Impact Assessment provided 6th of May 2021. 
 

Senior Engineer (Drainage) - No comments received. 
 

Page 47



CCBC Housing Enabling Officer - Provides advice regarding Secure by Design 
Standards that would need to satisfy the nominated Registered Social Landlord. 

 
Heritage Officer - Peter Thomas - No comments received. 

 
Placemaking Officer - Douglas McGlyn - The layout of the site should reflect on 
1. design methodology that seeks to provide carbon neutral designs, 

2. an overall design that minimizes the impact of cars on the visual amenity of the site, 
3. provides maximum parking spaces and not minimum parking spaces, reducing 

parking spots by at least 1 car per dwelling 
4. maximizing green space, minimising hard landscape specifically in the form of 
driveways and wasted turning space 

5. providing designs that have no frontage parking 
6. maximizing active street fronts with the provision of plenty of street trees, reducing 

the impact of wide vistas and creating a more human space 
7. maximizing sustainable construction techniques that reduces the impact on the 
environment and minimises heating costs, and 

8. building designs that maximises the potential for current sustainable technologies 
such as green roof, PV cell technology, battery storage and a ground source heat pump 

integrated heat network. 
 
More thought should be given to the boundary treatments of properties such as the 

inclusion of stone walls and or a mixture of stone and hedge. This would also be 
enhanced with more trees. 

 
All corner plots that have more than one elevation visible to the public realm should 
have enhanced architectural detailing. 

 
The properties along Bedwellty Road will give the development its identity and create 

the initial sense of place. The expectation is that these houses will have a high quality of 
design and present details that will be continued throughout the development. 
 

The affordable housing should be pepper potted peppered throughout the development 
and these should be tenure blind buildings. 

 
A number of the plots are too close to each other. 
 

The design of the site tends to ignore the drainage attenuation ponds which are large 
features of the design, specifically as they appear to be open access to the public. The 

layout could be improved to address these areas increasing the visual amenity of the 
site and individual properties in addition to the concern about the location of the LAP. 
 

Requests for a reduction in on street car parking or to bring garages further forward to 
the highway to reduce hard landscaping. 

 

Page 48



Requests for the details of the external finishes to be submitted and controlled by way of 
a condition. 

 
Ecologist - No objection and confirms that the submitted details are considered 

acceptable to discharge condition 15 of outline planning consent 21/0005/OUT. 
 
Waste Strategy And Operations Manager - Depending on current/future collection 

arrangements, each premise may need to placed out 2 x wheeled bins, a food caddy 
and possibly a garden waste sack on the same day for collection so further 

consideration would need to be given to the size of each collection point. 
 
Parks And Countryside Operations Manager - No comments received. 

 
Dwr Cymru - Offers no comments of the in terms of the details submitted to discharge 

conditions 09, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18, and 19. 
 
Would like to provide a holding response on the application until such time as the 

aforementioned drainage arrangements have been agreed for the proposed northern 
development site. 

 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer - The overall layout of the site is excellent. Natural 
surveillance is available from all units with properties facing one another and gardens 

backing onto each other.  
 

Parking for all of the units is within close proximity/adjacent to the building and is also 
overlooked by natural surveillance and active rooms.  
 

The communal/public footpaths running through the development are straight with clear 
lines of sight and do not run to the rear of any properties.  

 
The street lighting plan provides excellent lighting to all the public spaces 
(highway/footpaths) within the development.  

 
Informative advice is also provided in respect of landscaping maintenance, secure 

doors and windows, external lighting to dwellings, boundary treatments and siting of 
outbuildings. 
 

National Grid - No comments received. 
 

Rights Of Way Officer - No objection. 
 
CCBC - 21st Century Schools Manager - Re-iterates comments that were made at 

outline application stage regarding the need for extra classrooms in Aberbargoed 
Primary School if all planning applications and allocated housing sites came forward to 

be developed. 
 

Page 49



The Coal Authority - No objection. 
 

CADW - No comments received. 
 

 
ADVERTISEMENT 
 

Extent of advertisement: The application was advertised in the press, by means of a site 
notice and eighteen neighbours were notified by way of letter. 

 
Response: None. 
 

Summary of observations: Not applicable. 
 

SECTION 17 CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 
 
What is the likely effect of the determination of this application on the need for the Local 

Planning Authority to do all it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area? 
There are no specific crime and disorder implications material to the determination of 

this application. Furthermore, the Police Architectural Liaison Officer has provided 
detailed comments which are supportive of the proposed development in terms of its 
design and site layout. 

 
EU HABITATS DIRECTIVE 

 
Does the development affect any protected wildlife species? The application is 
accompanied by an Ecological Appraisal and the report findings of the walkover survey 

undertaken conclude that based on current evidence, this is unlikely to be a significant 
issue in this case, but an advisory note will be attached to the consent and sent to the 

applicant as a precautionary measure. 
 
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 

 
Is this development Community Infrastructure Levy liable? Yes the development is CIL 

liable as new residential floor space is being created, however the development is not 
chargeable in that the site is located within the low viability area for which CIL is 
charged at a rate of £0 per square metre. 

 
ANALYSIS 

 
Policies: The application site is located within the settlement boundary and forms part of 
a wider housing allocation (HG1.15) Bedwellty Road, Aberbargoed. This application 

seeks approval of the reserved matters following on from outline planning consent 
21/0005/OUT granted in June 2023 which agreed the principle of a residential 

development up to 76 dwellings. 
 

Page 50



It is important to note that the extent of the developable area within the red line 
boundary has reduced from 5.026 hectares to 2.476 hectares and excludes the 

southern parcels of land to the rear of Y Ffordd Wen and Cwrt Neuadd Wen which also 
forms part of housing allocation (HG1.15). Whilst this housing allocation identifies that 

the site has the potential to accommodate 180 units including the 48 units built at Y 
Ffordd Wen, the outline consent granted a significantly lower number of units on the 
wider site allocation based on the submitted indicative layout. Members are advised that 

the reduced land parcel would not prejudice the remainder of land within the wider 
housing allocation (HG1.15) but instead provide an opportunity to increase the 

deliverability of the site and the overall contribution to the housing land supply in 
accordance with Policies SP14 and SP15 of the Local Development Plan (LDP). This 
would be subject to a new application submitted for consideration. 

 
Notwithstanding the above, the 67 dwellings proposed is within the overall number of 

dwellings permitted by the outline consent, therefore this matter is not considered any 
further in the determination of this application. 
 

The main considerations in the determination of the application are whether the 
submitted details accord with the requirements of the outline planning consent and are 

acceptable against the aforementioned policies and design guidance, having regard to 
all other material planning considerations. 
 

LAYOUT, DESIGN AND PLACEMAKING 
 

In line with national planning policy, SP6 (Place Making) requires development 
proposals to contribute to the creation of sustainable places by having full regard to the 
context of the local, natural, historic and built environment and its special features. 

Policy SP6 requires new development to incorporate resource efficiency and passive 
solar gain through layout, materials, construction techniques, water conservation and 

where appropriate through the use of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS). 
 
In terms of the design and layout of the proposed development this has responded to 

the existing built form and access arrangements to the site. The proposed development 
would integrate with the surrounding built form and would provide a strong street 

frontage by maintaining the building line either side of the four self build dwellings along 
Lon Ty Gwyn. Access into the site for pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles is via Bedwellty 
Road in the form of a simple priority T-junction utilising the existing bellmouth. 58 

dwellings within the site are accessed via an estate road from Bedwellty Road, with 9 
individual properties benefiting from direct access on to this highway. 

 
Car parking for the development has been designed to accord with the requirements of 
the SPG LDP 5 and reflects the number of units and number of bedrooms. Unallocated 

visitor parking will be evenly distributed across the site with spaces located on or near 
the road frontage. 

 

Page 51



On the corner plot fronting Bedwellty Road and the site access adjacent to the 
substation, there is a strong double frontage property comprising of high quality external 

finishes. Within the site itself, the proposed dwellings would predominantly front on to 
the internal estate road and private drives, the areas of public open space and internal 

footpath links through the site, providing active frontages and natural surveillance of the 
public realm. The dwellings proposed on prominent corner plots would also benefit from 
either dual frontages or dual aspect rooms containing both front and side windows, 

which again maintains active frontages throughout the site and increases visual interest. 
 

The proposed development would have an appropriate density of approximately 37 
dwellings per hectare and the wider site layout would have an obvious street hierarchy. 
The built form would be broken up by two areas of public open space located to the 

front of the site behind the four dwellings along Lon Ty Gwyn and above the B4511 
towards the western boundary. The areas of open space would be multi-functional, to 

provide a network of open spaces and green infrastructure that create space for play 
and community interaction together with offering visual amenity benefits and performing 
the required sustainable drainage functions. The central area of open space to the front 

of the site would also provide a segregated Local Area of Play (LAP) away from the 
detention basins. 

 
In terms of the characteristics of the immediate built form there is a combination of two-
storey detached and semi-detached dwellings with a wide variety of architectural styles 

and finishes. The finishes predominantly comprise of facing brick and render. Along 
Bedwellty Road there is a prevalence of low stone boundary or solid brick walls with 

enhanced planting. 
 
With regards to scale and design, the proposed dwellings would be two storey in height, 

which is in keeping with the local context and are orientated to provide strong street 
frontages. In total fourteen different yet complementary house types are proposed and 

they share a unified material palette and architectural features. 
 
The external finishes and architectural detailing of each house type will comprise of red 

brickwork with the occasional use of render and stone on feature buildings. Some 
contrasting materials such as weatherboarding, stone and render have been introduced 

at a number of locations. Architectural elements like gables, feature windows surrounds 
and contemporary canopies contribute to an attractive and varied streetscape, adding 
richness and identity to the development. It is considered that the palette of materials 

and design of the dwellings materials are visually acceptable within the local context. 
Furthermore, the enhancement of boundary treatments such as stone wall features 

along all plots fronting Bedwellty Road and consideration of rear boundary treatments 
particularly along the northern and eastern gardens, reinforce the wider character of the 
area given its proximity and relationship to the open countryside. 

 
The affordable apartments to be provided would be grouped together in clusters of no 

more than 6 units which accords with Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) LDP 1 
and they would also be tenure blind. 

Page 52



 
In terms of sustainability credentials both the market and affordable housing will be non 

fossil fuel dependent with reliance on air source heat pumps and in built photovoltaic 
roof arrays to ensure that the proposed development can be as efficient as possible in 

terms of its carbon footprint and overall heat demand/ energy security for its future 
occupiers. 
 

In terms of the comments raised by the Council's Placemaking Officer a number of 
these appear to be generalised in nature and do not take into account the wealth of 

supporting details to accompany the reserved matters submission. As indicated above 
the supporting details provide clarity in terms of parking provision, boundary treatments, 
drainage features, detailed elevations and the materials palette. It should also be noted 

that pre-application advice was sought and the developer has sought to address or 
provide detailed justification on all matters that were previously raised through both the 

pre-application advice and reserved matters application process. 
 
A request has also been made to impose a condition to control the external finishes of 

the development, in that regard as indicated above the submitted details are considered 
to be acceptable and on that basis it would be unreasonable of the Local Planning 

Authority to impose a condition which is not considered to be necessary in that such 
details would form part of the approved plans and documents. 
 

It is therefore considered that the proposed development does have regard to the local 
context and is of an appropriate scale and design that would sit comfortably with the 

context of the site, and would be in keeping with the character and appearance of the 
local area. The landscaping scheme also provides a positive contextual response to the 
streetscene and reinforces the residential role of the area. Accordingly, the proposed 

development would meet the requirements of Policy SP6. 
 

 
ECOLOGY 
 

Policy SP10 (Conservation of Natural Heritage) is of relevance and indicates that the 
Council will protect, conserve, enhance and manage this asset in the consideration of 

all development proposals. Policy CW4 also states that development proposals must 
conserve, and where appropriate, enhance the ecological importance of local 
designations, or, where the need for the development outweighs the ecological 

importance of the site, the harm is minimised by mitigation measures and offset as far 
as practicable by compensation measures. 

 
The site does not fall under any statutory or non-statutory ecological designations, albeit 
Aberbargoed Grasslands Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) & Special Area of 

Conservation (SAC) lies approximately 710 meters to the south-east. Biodiversity and 
landscape considerations were considered at the outline stage and a series of planning 

conditions were imposed. The application is supported by an Ecological Impact 
Appraisal (EIA) Report as required by condition 15 of the outline consent, in addition to 

Page 53



a Reptile Mitigation Strategy. The EIA includes the key species, habitats, and ecological 
networks and confirms that no protected species were found to be present on the site 

but the site is likely to provide commuting and foraging routes for bats. In terms of 
reptile use, the fields are deemed nominally suitable for low-level use.  

 
The EIA confirms that the proposed development is unlikely to pose a significant risk to 
the existing ecology and biodiversity within and adjacent to the site. 

 
A Biodiversity Net Benefit Strategy has also been submitted which includes the 

provision of landscape features/habitats in terms of wildflower grassland, native 
hedgerow, a network of swales, scrub, bat and bird boxes, reptile hibernacula, insect 
hotels and hedgehog houses sufficient to ensure that the proposed development will 

result in a net increase in biodiversity value of the site. 
 

In its current pre-development form approximately 98% of the site is currently given over 
to soft landscape that is dominated by short, poor semi-improved grassland. The overall 
biodiversity value is largely concentrated in smaller areas of rougher vegetation (scrub, 

tall ruderal vegetation, hedgerow, rougher grassland) that between them occupy 
approximately 8% of the site. Whilst the proposed development will lead to a reduction 

in the amount of soft landscaping from around 98% to 47%, there will be an increase in 
the cover of habitats of higher biodiversity value from 8% to 21% with the remainder of 
soft habitat (namely a mosaic of gardens and amenity grassland) being, as a whole, of 

no lesser (although different) biodiversity than the existing grassland. Therefore, whilst 
the proposed landscaping and associated biodiversity will result in a reduction in 

vegetated habitat of low biodiversity value it will also lead to an increase in vegetated 
habitat of higher biodiversity value. 
 

The details submitted to evaluate the ecological impacts of the proposed development 
has been reviewed by the Council's Ecologist and are considered to be acceptable in 

terms of their professional competency, findings, proposed mitigation and enhancement 
measures. 
 

On the basis of the above, the proposed development would meet the requirements of 
Policies SP10 and CW4 of the adopted LDP. 

 
LANDSCAPING 
 

A detailed landscape scheme has been submitted and the rationale is set out in the 
Landscape, Biodiversity and Amenity Strategy. The landscape details include a detailed 

planting specification, a LAP design and a Green Infrastructure Statement. These have 
each been cross referenced with the Arboricultural & Ecological constraints of the site to 
promote the principles of Green Infrastructure, the enhancement of biodiversity and 

local distinctiveness and to create multi-functional useable outdoor amenity spaces. 
 

The existing landscape within the site includes the stone walling, which is identified for 
retention and is incorporated into the rear boundaries of the dwellings in the northern 

Page 54



edge of the development. The eastern rear boundaries provide a combination of new 
native boundary hedgerows and trees reinforced with low level stock proof fencing to 

provide a contextual relationship to the open countryside beyond. New and other 
sections of stone will be reused along the site frontage to enhance the existing street 

scene and will facilitate connectivity and the spread of biodiversity across the site. In 
order to safeguard the efforts to provide high quality boundary treatments it is 
considered that it would be necessary to remove permitted development rights 

regarding boundary treatments to prevent incremental changes based on personal 
design preferences by any future occupiers of the development 

 
Native planting will wrap around the site providing corridors for wildlife connectivity 
linking to the existing woodland. The proposed planting within the site will include a 

variety of species rich wildflower grassland, ornamental and native hedgerows, trees, 
seasonal wetland and associated flowering species, buffer planting and trees. 

 
It is considered that the landscaping and planting proposals utilise green infrastructure 
to good effect and integrates the proposed development into its local environment when 

viewed from the surrounding roads and countryside. 
 

The Council's Landscape Architect has confirmed that the proposed landscaping plan in 
terms of all of the proposed hard and soft landscaping, including boundary treatments is 
considered acceptable. The proposed development therefore complies with Policies 

SP10 and CW6. 
 

TREES 
 
Policy CW6 (Trees, Woodland and Hedgerow Protection) requires that effective 

measures are taken to ensure the protection of existing trees and hedgerows on 
development sites. An Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) and Arboricultural 

Method Statement (AMS), Tree Protection Plan (TPP) and Tree Survey accompanies 
the application in accordance with condition 16 of the outline consent. There are no 
trees within the main body of the site but there are trees and hedgerow at the site 

peripheries. In terms of tree loss, a group of Category C hawthorn, hazel and holly 
(G31) forming a gappy boundary hedgerow and a Category C single hawthorn tree 

(T32) of variable form and vigour are identified for removal along the southern boundary 
fronting Bedwellty Road. Whilst these trees are located on the site frontage their 
retention would compromise the site layout and street scene and would be contrary to 

good placemaking principles. A significant number of trees and native hedging is 
proposed to be planted throughout the site with the planting of 90 trees and 240 metres 

of new native field boundary hedgerow in addition to the planting of various short 
sections of garden hedges along plot frontages to support the agreed comprehensive 
landscaping scheme referred to above. It is therefore considered that the substantial net 

increase in both trees and hedgerow throughout the site far exceeds the mitigation that 
would be requested from Officers to mitigate for those trees lost. 

 

Page 55



Additional measures to retain the existing trees and hedgerows including their root 
protection areas and consideration to changes in levels have also been considered 

along and adjoining the site boundaries within the AIA and AMS. These reports are 
included in the list of approved plans and documents to ensure compliance during any 

construction phase of the development. It is therefore considered that the proposed 
development complies with Policy CW6. 
 

LEISURE AND OPEN SPACE PROVISION 
 

Policy CW10 requires all new housing sites capable of accommodating 10 or more 
dwellings or exceeding 0.3 ha to make adequate provision for useable open space, 
appropriate formal children's play facilities and adequate outdoor sport provision to meet 

the needs of the residents of the proposed development. The provision of appropriate 
levels of public open space to serve 67 dwellings in the form of a LAP has been 

provided in accordance with the requirements of condition 13 of the outline consent. 
 
The LAP is located near the front of the development to provide easy access for all 

users. It is also positioned whereby it benefits from natural surveillance and is to be 
completed prior to occupation of 50% of the dwellings, which is the same trigger point 

contained within the S106 to provide the required level of affordable housing on the site. 
It is considered that the area shown to be provided as a LAP meets the Fields in Trust 
guidance and the natural play infrastructure, associated surfacing, boundary treatments 

and landscaping to serve the LAP is considered acceptable by the Council's Landscape 
Architect. 

 
The two sustainable urban drainage features within the site will also provide additional 
recreational spaces for residents to enjoy and for biodiversity to flourish. 

 
A direct footpath link between the western open space/sustainable urban drainage 

feature down onto the B4511 to connect to the Local Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) at 
Lewis Street was requested by Officers as part of the proposed development. However, 
in order to accommodate an accessible compliant footpath to account for the difference 

in levels between the development site and the highway below would have resulted in 
significant disruption and loss to the sensitive ecological corridor along the western 

periphery. Consequently, off-site works are proposed to extend the existing footpath 
around the junction between Bedwellty Road and the B4511 to provide the required link 
and this will be imposed by way of condition. The proposed development is therefore 

compliant with Policy CW10. 
 

DRAINAGE AND SURFACE WATER 
 
Policy CW5 (Protection of the Water Environment) stated that development proposals 

will only be permitted where they do not have an unacceptable adverse impact upon the 
water environment, and where they would not pose an unacceptable risk to the quality 

of controlled waters (including groundwater and surface water). 
 

Page 56



With regards to surface water management the proposed development will require 
Sustainable Urban Drainage approval. Detailed pre-application discussions with the 

Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB) have taken place. From a planning 
perspective the drainage details submitted for consideration indicates various drainage 

attenuation measures to manage surface water flow throughout the site comprising of 
bio-retention garden areas, rain gardens, permeable paving, attenuation basins and 
large areas of useable open space. Those technical details will require consideration 

and separate consent from the Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB), an 
independent approval process outside of planning legislation and on that basis the 

proposed development is in compliance with Policy CW5. 
 
It should be noted that no surface water drainage is known to exist on the site. Off-site 

there is a surface water drain in Bedwellty Road that runs into Y Ffordd Wen with a spur 
for the development site located in the junction spur by the substation. In a similar vein 

there is no foul water drainage known to exist on the site. However, off-site there is a 
foul water drain in Bedwellty Road that runs in a westwardly direction. The adequacy of 
the water supply and the sewage infrastructure are significant considerations, however 

condition 17 of the outline consent has been agreed by Dwr Cymru and they confirmed 
110 properties can be served by the 150mm water main located in the B4511, without 

the need for reinforcement works. 
 
In terms of Dwr Cymru requesting to provide a 'Holding Response' until the drainage 

arrangements for the site have been agreed. In that regard compliance with technical 
approvals fall outside of the planning legislation. The developer has confirmed that the 

required technical approvals are not expected to alter the planning layout and it is not 
considered reasonable for the Local Planning Authority to withhold determination of the 
application until such time as the technical approvals are issued. 

 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 

 
Policy CW2 (Amenity) states that development proposals should, among other things, 
not have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of adjacent properties or land, should 

not result in the overdevelopment of the site or its surroundings and should be 
compatible with surrounding land uses. It was established at outline planning stage that 

the proposed residential development would be compatible with neighbouring land 
uses. The amount of development proposed at outline stage (up to 76 residential units) 
across the northern and southern sides of Bedwellty Road was also deemed to be 

acceptable and it is noted that the number of residential units now proposed (67) is 
slightly less than the maximum number anticipated but this would be on a much smaller 

planning unit. In that regard the density of the proposed development would equate to 
37 dwellings per hectare as opposed to 15 dwellings per hectare on the indicated 
outline planning layout taking into account the existing density of development of the 

four self build dwellings along Lon Ty Gwyn on the northern side of Bedwellty Road and 
the topographic constraints on land to the south of Y Ffordd Wen and Cwrt Neuadd 

Wen. As such, the proposed development is considered acceptable in land use terms, 

Page 57



would not result in overdevelopment of the site and the number of dwellings proposed is 
considered to be a more efficient use of land in terms of the proposed density. 

  
With regards to the potential impact on surrounding residential properties, the nearest 

properties are located adjacent to the boundary of no.1 Y Ffordd Wen on the southern 
side of Bedwellty Road and the four self build dwellings along Lon Ty Gwyn on the 
northern side of Bedwellty Road. Each of the proposed dwellings would be orientated 

outwards with the principal elevation fronting Bedwellty Road, except for plot 51 
adjacent to the bellmouth whereby it would have a dual frontage with its principal 

elevation facing on to the internal estate road and across an adopted highway onto the 
side elevation of no. 13 Lon Ty Gwyn. The situations presented would be no different to 
the existing relationship between dwellings along Bedwellty Road and on that basis it is 

not considered that the proposed direct frontage properties proposed along Bedwellty 
Road would give rise to any unacceptable impacts on the amenity of the occupiers of 

surrounding residential properties by means of overlooking, overshadowing or 
overbearing. 
 

In terms of the proposed layout from within the site, the proximity, orientation, design, 
layout and fenestration of each dwelling has been fully considered and would achieve 

acceptable amenity standards to prevent any direct overlooking between opposing 
habitable room windows. Additionally each dwelling would be provided with adequate 
private outdoor amenity space, however, in order to safeguard the indicated levels of 

private amenity space for future occupiers of the site it is recommended to remove a 
number of permitted development rights in relation to extensions and window alterations 

to ensure that future residential amenity cannot be compromised by further 
development, which the Local Planning Authority would otherwise be unable to control. 
 

Whilst the Council's Placemaking Officer has raised concerns that it would appear in 
some instances that some plots are closer together than others, it is not considered that 

the amenity of any future occupiers would be compromised and the concerns raised are 
not considered to be sufficient to warrant a change in the submitted layout. 
 

Overall, it is considered that the proposed residential development is compatible with 
neighbouring land uses, would not result in overdevelopment of the site and would not 

have an unacceptable impact on the residential amenity of the occupiers of the 
surrounding properties or the future occupiers of the development. As such, the 
proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy CW2 of the adopted LDP.     

 
HIGHWAYS 

 
The outline consent determined that this site is well located and sustainable in transport 
terms, is policy compliant, and the development will have no significant traffic impact on 

the local highway network. Policy CW1 states that, amongst other things, development 
proposals that are likely to generate a significant number of trips will only be permitted 

provided that walking and cycling are actively encouraged and a travel plan is provided, 
where appropriate. The requirement for a Travel Plan was secured under condition 11 

Page 58



of the outline planning consent, the details of which have been previously agreed 
(planning reference: 24/0306/COND) by the Council's Transportation Engineering 

Manager. The Travel Plan confirms that the application site is located within a 
sustainable location with good access to a range of local services and facilities via 

existing footpaths as well as nearby public transport provision. The Travel Plan also 
contains a number of measures that are intended to reduce the number of single 
occupancy car trips and promote greater use of sustainable modes of transport such as 

walking, cycling and the use of public transport. As such, the proposed development is 
considered to be in accordance with Policy CW1 of the adopted LDP. 

 
Policy CW3, which relates more specifically to highway design considerations, states 
that development proposals must have regard for the safe, effective and efficient use of 

the transportation network; ensure that new access roads are designed to promote 
sustainable modes of transport and are capable of accommodating the traffic generated 

by the proposal; be in accordance with the CSS Wales Parking Standards; and have 
due regard to the restrictions relevant to the road hierarchy. 
 

The vehicular access to serve the proposed internal estate is via the existing bellmouth 
on the northern side of Bedwellty Road. Additional off-site highway works are proposed 

in relation to extending the existing footway on Bedwellty Road and the junction radii 
with the B4511 to provide an uncontrolled pedestrian crossing facility to the footway 
opposite to connect to the LEAP at Lewis Street and the wider community of 

Aberbargoed. 
 

The Council's Transportation Engineering Manager has indicated that the proposed 
residential development is acceptable in terms of vision splays, forward visibility 
envelopes and turning areas for accommodating refuse vehicles and road and footway 

widths. It has also been confirmed that the proposed level of parking for each of the 
properties and associated visitors is in accordance with the requirements of SPG LDP 

5. On this basis, no objection has been raised, subject to the imposition of a number of 
conditions relating to the submission of engineering details and design of the road and 
off-site highway works roads and measures to include surface water run-off. 

 
Given the above, it is considered that the proposed residential development is 

acceptable in terms of highway safety, sustainable transport and parking provision. As 
such, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy CW3. 
 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
 

Policy CW11 and the related S106 obligation to secure the delivery of affordable 
housing is above policy compliance for the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area. 
Furthermore the development is providing 8 affordable homes instead of the 7 

affordable homes that the developer is required to deliver as 10% of the total number on 
dwellings on the site in accordance with an agreed mix, tenure and timetable for 

delivery. The development is considered acceptable in this respect and POBL have 
confirmed that they will be the appointed Registered Social Landlord. 

Page 59



 
CONCLUSION 

 
In conclusion Section 38(6) of the 2004 Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act requires 

a decision on this proposal to be made in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The Adopted Caerphilly County Borough 
Local Development Plan up to 2021 is the development plan for purpose of Section 

38(6). 
 

Having regard to the above, the proposed development site's designation as an 
allocated housing site reinforces its accordance with national policy and guidance 
together with local planning policies. 

 
It is considered that the details to accompany this Reserved Matters submission 

accords with the outline planning consent. The placemaking objectives of national policy 
and the high quality development that is required by local policy will be achieved by 
virtue of the development being of an appropriate density and scale. The proposed 

development will make a significant contribution to housing land supply, particularly 
within the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area, is located in a sustainable location 

in terms of access to services, amenities and public transport and would not cause 
unacceptable harm to its surroundings. There is no evidence before the Local Planning 
Authority to suggest that there would be any unacceptable impacts on local economic, 

social and environmental infrastructure and therefore the application is therefore 
recommended for approval. 

 
Comments from Consultees: The comments of the Consultees have been included in 
the report above. 

 
Comments from public: No comments received. 

 
Other material considerations: None. 
 

The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, has been considered in accordance with the sustainable development principle, 

under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. In reaching 
the recommendation below, the ways of working set out at section 5 of that Act have 
been taken into account, and it is considered that the recommendation is consistent with 

the sustainable development principle as required by section 8 of that Act. 
 

Future Wales - The National Plan 2040 was published on 24 February 2021 and forms 
part of the statutory development plan for the county borough.  In addition to this 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) has been amended to take account of Future Wales and 

PPW Edition 12 has also been published on 7th February 2024.  In reaching the 
conclusion below full account has been taken of both Future Wales and PPW Edition 12 

and where they are particularly pertinent to the consideration of the proposals they have 
been considered as part of the officer's report. It is considered that the 

Page 60



recommendation(s) in respect of the proposals is (are) in conformity with both Future 
Wales and PPW Edition 12. 

 
Living Decision Document: The application also seeks to discharge conditions 01, 09, 

13, 14, 15, 16, 18 and 19 attached to outline planning permission 21/0005/OUT. In that 
regard:-  
 

There is no decision for the Local Planning Authority to make in respect of Condition 01 
of planning consent 21/0005/OUT. 

 
There is no decision for the Local Planning Authority to make in respect of Condition 09 
of planning consent 21/0005/OUT. 

 
Details in respect of condition 13 have been partially agreed by decision reference 

number 24/0299/RM dated XX.07.2024 issued by Caerphilly County Borough Council in 
relation to the statement confirming implementation of the Local Area of Play (LAP) 
received on 11.06.2024; Dwg No. SL-01 Rev A Site Layout Plan received on 

21.05.2024; Dwg No. 613.01 Rev B Landscape, Biodiversity and Amenity Strategy and 
Dwg No. 613.02 Planting and Management Plan received on 16.05.2024. 

 
Details in respect of condition 14 have been agreed by decision reference number 
24/0299/RM dated XX.07.2024 issued by Caerphilly County Borough Council in relation 

to Dwg 100 Rev P0 Existing Site Survey; Dwg No. E1240-1-1 Rev A Topographical 
Survey Sheet 1 of 4; Dwg No. E1240-1-2 Rev A Topographical Survey Sheet 2 of 4; 

Dwg No. SS-01 Street Scenes; Dwg No.102 Rev P0 Site Section 1-1 Sheet 1 of 5; Dwg 
No.103 Rev P0 Site Section 2-2 Sheet 2 of 5; Dwg No.104 Rev P0 Site Section 3-3 
Sheet 3 of 5; Dwg No.105 Rev P0 Site Section 4-4 Sheet 4 of 5; Dwg No.105 Rev P0 

Site Section 5-5 Sheet 5 of 5; Dwg No.107 Rev P0 Proposed External Levels Sheet 1 of 
3; Dwg No.108 Rev P0 Proposed External Levels Sheet 2 of 3; Dwg No.109 Rev P0 

Proposed External Levels Sheet 3 of 3; Dwg No.110 Rev P0 Detention Basin 1 Levels; 
and Dwg No.111 Rev P0 Detention Basin 2 Levels received on 17.04.2024  
 

Details in respect of condition 15 have been agreed by decision reference number 
24/0299/RM dated XX.07.2024 issued by Caerphilly County Borough Council in relation 

to the Ecological Appraisal received on 17.04.2024 and Ecological Appraisal - Appendix 
4. Reptile Mitigation Strategy received on 14.05.2024. 
 

Details in respect of condition 16 have been agreed by decision reference number 
24/0299/RM dated XX.07.2024 issued by Caerphilly County Borough Council in relation 

to the Tree Constraints Plan; Tree Protection Plan; and Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement received on 17.04.2024; in addition to 
an updated Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement 

received on 13.05.2024. 
 

Page 61



Details in respect of condition 18 have been agreed by decision reference number 
24/0299/RM dated XX.07.2024 issued by Caerphilly County Borough Council in relation 

to Dwg No. EVCP-01 Electric Vehicle Charging Point Layout received on 19.04.2024. 
 

There is no decision for the Local Planning Authority to make in respect of Condition 19 
of planning consent 21/0005/OUT. 
 

RECOMMENDATION that Permission be GRANTED 
 

 
01) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 

plans and documents: 

 Dwg No. SL-01 Rev 00 Site Location Plan received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. SL-01 Rev A Site Layout Plan received on 21.05.2024; 

 Dwg No. SS-01 Street Scenes received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg No.102 Rev P0 Site Section 1-1 Sheet 1 of 5 received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg No.103 Rev P0 Site Section 2-2 Sheet 2 of 5 received on 17.04.2024; 

 Dwg No.104 Rev P0 Site Section 3-3 Sheet 3 of 5 received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg No.105 Rev P0 Site Section 4-4 Sheet 4 of 5 received on 17.04.2024; 

 Dwg No.105 Rev P0 Site Section 5-5 Sheet 5 of 5 received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg No.107 Rev P0 Proposed External Levels Sheet 1 of 3 received on 

17.04.2024; 

 Dwg No.108 Rev P0 Proposed External Levels Sheet 2 of 3 received on 
17.04.2024; 

 Dwg No.109 Rev P0 Proposed External Levels Sheet 3 of 3 received on 
17.04.2024; 

 Dwg No.110 Rev P0 Detention Basin 1 Levels received on 17.04.2024; 

 Dwg No.111 Rev P0 Detention Basin 2 Levels received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg No.112 Rev P0 Vehicle Tracking Layout received on 17.04.2024; 

 Dwg No. EVCP-01 Electric Vehicle Charging Point Layout received on 
17.04.2024; 

 Dwg No. 613.01 Rev B Landscape, Biodiversity and Amenity Strategy received 

on 16.05.2024; 
 Dwg No. 613.02 Planting and Management Plan received on 16.05.2024; 

 Dwg No. 3B12/ST1 Rev A Ferndale Elevations Style 1 Brick received on 
29.04.2024; 

 Dwg No. 3B12/ST4 Rev A Ferndale Elevations Style 4 Cladding received on 

29.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. 3B12/ST5 Rev A Ferndale Elevations Style 5 Front Render received on 

29.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. 3B12/F01 Rev A Ferndale Floor Plans received on 29.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. 3B12SP/ST1 Ferndale Elevations Style 1 Brick received on 29.04.2024; 

 Dwg No. 3B12SP/F01 Rev A Ferndale Floor Plans received on 29.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. 4B7/ST1 Rev A Oakfield Elevations Style 1 Brick received on 

29.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. 4B7/F01 Rev A Oakfield Floor Plans received on 29.04.2024; 

Page 62



 Dwg No. 4B7SP/ST1 Oakfield Elevations Style 1 Brick received on 29.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. 4B7SP/F01 Oakfield Floor Plans received on 29.04.2024; 

 Dwg No. 2B3/ST1 Rev A Chelsea Semi Style 1 Brick received on 29.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. 2B3/ST3 Rev A Chelsea Semi Style 3 Stone received on 29.04.2024; 

 Dwg No. 2B3/F01 Rev A Chelsea Semi Floor Plans received on 29.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. 2B3SP/ST1 Rev A Chelsea Semi Style 1 Brick received on 29.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. 2B3SP/ST3 Rev A Chelsea Semi Style 3 Stone received on 

29.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. 2B3SP/F01 Rev A Chelsea Semi Floor Plans received on 29.04.2024; 

 Dwg No. 211D/ST1 Detached Affordable Elevations Style 1 Brick received on 
26.04.2024; 

 Dwg No. 211D/F01 Rev A Detached Affordable Floor Plans received on 

26.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. 211E/ST1 Semi End House Affordable Elevations Style 1 Brick received 

on 26.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. 211E/F01 Rev A Semi End House Affordable Floor Plans received on 

26.04.2024; 

 Dwg No. 3BC/ST1 Rev A Cedars Elevations Style 1 Brick received on 
17.04.2024; 

 Dwg No. 3BC/ST3 Rev A Cedars Elevations Style 3 Stone received on 
17.04.2024; 

 Dwg No. 3BC/F01 Rev A Cedars Floor Plans received on 17.04.2024; 

 Dwg. No. 3B18D/ST3 Rev A Ewenny Elevations  Style 3 Stone received on 
17.04.2024; 

 Dwg. No. 3B18D/F01 Rev A Ewenny Floor Plans received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg. No. 3B13SD/ST1 Rev A Ogmore Semi Elevations Style 1 Brick received on 

17.04.2024; 

 Dwg. No. 3B13SD/F01 Rev A Ogmore Semi Floor Plans received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg. No. 3B4/ST1 Rev A Nash Elevations Style 1 Brick received on 17.04.2024; 

 Dwg. No. 3B4/ST5 Rev A Nash Elevations Style 5 Front Render received on 
17.04.2024; 

 Dwg. No. 3B4/F01 Rev A Nash Floor Plans received on 17.04.2024; 

 Dwg. No. 4C/ST3 Rev A Mullberry Elevations Style 3 Stone received on 
17.04.2024; 

 Dwg. No. 4C/F01 Rev A Mullberry Floor Plans received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg. No. 3B5/ST1 Rev A Moulton Elevations Style 1 Brick received on 

17.04.2024; 

 Dwg. No. 3B5/ST5 Rev A Moulton Elevations Style 3 Stone received on 
17.04.2024; 

 Dwg. No. 3B5/F01 Rev A Moulton Floor Plans received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg. No. 4B2/ST1 Rev A Llanmaes Elevations Style 1 Brick received on 

17.04.2024; 

 Dwg. No. 4B2/ST2 Rev A Llanmaes Elevations Style 2 Render received on 
17.04.2024; 

 Dwg. No. 4B2/ST4 Rev A Llanmaes Elevations Style 4 Cladding received on 
17.04.2024; 

Page 63



 Dwg. No. 4B2/F01 Rev A Llanmaes Floor Plans received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg. No. 4B13/ST1 Rev A Llanmaes Elevations Style 1 Brick received on 

17.04.2024; 
 Dwg. No. 4B13/ST4 Rev A Llandow Elevations Style 4 Cladding received on 

17.04.2024; 
 Dwg. No. 4B13/F01 Rev A Llandow Floor Plans received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg. No. 3B19SP/ST1 Rev A Litchard Elevations Style 1 Brick received on 

17.04.2024; 
 Dwg. No. 3B19/F01 Rev A Litchard Floor Plans received on 17.04.2024; 

 Dwg. No. G10-B-01 Single Garage Floor Plan and Elevations received on 
17.04.2024; 

 Dwg. No. G11-B-01 Double Single Garage Floor Plan and Elevations received on 

17.04.2024; 
 Dwg. No. HF-01 House Finishes Layout received on 17.04.2024; 

 Dwg. No. HSL-01 House Style Layout received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg. No. PS-01 House Style Layout received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg. No. PV-01 PV Strategy Layout received on 17.04.2024; 

 Dwg No. AFF-01 Affordable Homes Layout received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. BIO-01 Biodiversity Enhancement Layout received on 17.04.2024; 

 Dwg No. EN-01 1800 Close Board Fence received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. EN-02 900 Post and Wire received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. EN-03 Timber Knee Rail received on 17.04.2024; 

 Dwg No. EN-04 Screen Wall received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. EN-05 1800 Close Board Gate received on 17.04.2024; 

 Dwg No. EN-18 600 Stone Wall received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. EN-19 2.1 Durlok-Lite Fence received on 21.05.2024; 
 Dwg No. EN-20 Rev 1 1000 Hoop Top Railings received on 07.06.2024; 

 Dwg No. EW-01 Rev A External Works Layout received on 21.05.2024; 
 Dwg No. 101 Rev P0 Proposed Highway Site Layout received on 17.04.2024; 

 Tree Constraints Plan received on 17.04.2024; 
 Tree Protection Plan received on 17.04.2024; 
 Dwg No. 101 Rev P0 Proposed Layout; 

 Ecological Appraisal received on 17.04.2024; 
 Ecological Appraisal - Appendix 4. Reptile Mitigation Strategy received on 

14.05.2024; 
 Tree Survey received on 17.04.2024; 
 Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement received 

on 17.04.2024; 
 Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement received 

on 13.05.2024; and 
 External Finishes contained within Design Compliance Statement received on 

17.04.2024. 

 REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out only as approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 

Page 64



02) No development shall commence above Damp Proof Course (DPC) level until 
the full engineering design and detail of the proposed internal roads together with 

access points onto the existing highway and off-site highway improvements have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and 

shall thereafter be fully implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to beneficial occupation of the development. 

 REASON: To ensure the adequacy of the proposed means of access, in the 

interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic in accordance with policy 
CW3 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 

2021. 
 
03) The development shall not be occupied until the area indicated for the parking of 

vehicles has been laid out in accordance with the submitted plans and that area 
shall not thereafter be used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles. 

 REASON: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy CW3 of 
the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 

04) Rainwater run-off shall associated with the parking areas hereby approved shall 
not discharge into the highway surface-water drainage system. 

 REASON: To safeguard the highway drainage system in accordance with policy 
CW5 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 
2021. 

 
05) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that 
order, with or without modification), the garages hereby approved shall not be 
physically altered or converted to any other domestic purpose without the prior 

approval of the Local Planning Authority. The garages shall be made available at 
all times for the parking of motor vehicles associated with the residential use of 

the dwellings hereby approved. 
 REASON: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy CW3 of 

the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
06) All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any 
part of the development or in accordance with a programme agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 

years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 

others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives 
written consent to any variation. 

 REASON: To ensure that the works are carried out as approved in the interests 

of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with policies CW2 and SP6 of the 
adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 

Page 65



07) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that 

order) with or without modification, no hard surfacing forward of the principal 
elevation of the dwellinghouse and between the principal elevation and a 

highway shall be constructed or laid without the approval of the Local Planning 
Authority other than those indicated on the approved plans. 

 REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and to safeguard the highway 

drainage system in accordance with policies SP6, CW2 and CW5 of the adopted 
Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
08) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that 

order) with or without modification, no fences, gates, walls, hedges or other 
means of enclosure whatsoever shall be erected or planted without the approval 

of the Local Planning Authority other than those indicated on the approved plans. 
 REASON: To retain the open character of the development in the interests of 

visual amenity in accordance with policy CW2 of the adopted Caerphilly County 

Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 
 

09) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that 
order) with or without modification, no enlargement of the dwellings hereby 

approved shall be constructed without the approval of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 REASON: In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with policy CW2 
of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 

10) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that 

order) with or without modification, no windows or dormer windows, other than 
those expressly authorised by this permission, shall be constructed without the 
approval of the Local Planning Authority. 

 REASON: In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with policy CW2 
of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
11) Condition 01 of outline planning consent 21/0005/OUT 
 Approval of the details of the access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale 

of the development (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be obtained 
from the Local Planning Authority in writing before development is commenced 

and shall be carried out as approved. 
 DECISION: There is no decision for the Local Planning Authority to make in 

respect of Condition 01 of planning consent 21/0005/OUT. 

Page 66



 
12) Condition 09 of outline planning consent 21/0005/OUT 

 Prior to beneficial occupation of the dwellings hereby approved any glazing 
serving habitable room windows shall be installed in accordance with the 

recommendations specified in the Noise Impact Assessment prepared by Parker 
Jones Acoustics received on 17.05.2021 and any replacement or repair shall be 
maintained thereafter on a like for like basis for the lifetime of the consent. 

 REASON: Whilst the submitted details are considered acceptable there is no 
decision for the Local Planning Authority to make. This is a compliance condition 

and remains in perpetuity for the lifetime of the development. 
 
13) Condition 13 of outline planning consent 21/0005/OUT 

 Details submitted in relation to Condition 1 of this permission shall include details 
to take into account the need to provide appropriate leisure facilities to meet the 

needs of the residents of the proposed development. Those facilities shall 
include areas of well-designed open space that benefit from good access and 
surveillance together with suitably sized equipped play areas (a LEAP and/or 

LAP) on both the northern and southern development sites and shall be designed 
in accordance with the standards set out in Fields in Trust guidance. The 

development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
provided in accordance with the timetable contained therein. 

 DECISION: Details partially agreed in so far as the details for the northern part of 

the development are considered acceptable. Compliance with the 
implementation of the LAP remains. 

 
14) Condition 14 
 Details submitted in relation to Condition 1 of this permission shall include a 

topographic site survey demonstrating existing and proposed levels and detailed 
cross section drawings of the site. 

 DECISION: Details agreed. 
 
15) Condition 15 

 Details submitted in relation to Condition 1 of this permission shall include an 
updated Preliminary Ecological Appraisal to inform the reserved matters 

application. 
 DECISION: Details agreed. 
 

16) Condition 16 of outline planning consent 21/0005/OUT 
 Details submitted in relation to Condition 1 of this permission shall include the 

following surveys:- 
 Tree Protection Plan (TPP); 
 Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS); and 

 Arboricultural Implications Assessment (AIA). 
 DECISION: Details agreed. 

Page 67



 
17) Condition 18 of outline planning consent 21/0005/OUT 

 Prior to works commencing on site details shall be submitted for a minimum of 
25% of the residential units to be constructed to make provision to allow for the 

installation of electric charging points for vehicles. 
 DECISION: Details agreed. 
 

18) Condition 19 of outline planning consent 21/0005/OUT 
 The development hereby approved shall make provision for gigabit capable 

broadband infrastructure to serve all of the approved dwellings. The necessary 
infrastructure required shall be installed prior to the first occupation of the 
dwellings. 

 DECISION: There is no decision for the Local Planning Authority to make. This is 
a compliance condition. 

 
 
Advisory Note(s) 

 
Please refer to Public Access on the Council's website to view the comments of the 

consultees that are brought to the applicant's attention. Informative information is also 
provided. 
 

The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may contain 
unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If any coal mining feature is encountered 

during development, this should be reported immediately to the Coal Authority on 0345 
762 6848. 
  

Further information is also available on the Coal Authority website at: 
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority. 

 
Mature trees are potential bat roosts. All bat species and their roosts are protected by 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 and its amendment 2012, 

which transposes the EC Habitats Directive 1992 into UK legislation, and the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. If bats are discovered, then all works should stop 

immediately and the Countryside Council for Wales should be contacted for advice on 
any special precautions, and whether a licence is required, before continuing. 
 

Please also be advised that works should not take place that will disturb nesting birds 
from March to July inclusive. All British birds (while nesting, building nests and sitting on 

eggs), their nests and eggs (with certain limited exceptions) are protected by law under 
Section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Countryside 
and Rights of Way Act 2000. If birds are nesting on/in or within the vicinity of the 

proposed development, work should be undertaken outside the breeding season for 
birds to ensure their protection, i.e. works should only be undertaken between August 

and February. Further advice on the above can be sought from the local authority 
ecologists (01495 235253) or Natural Resources Wales (NRW) (029 20 772400). 

Page 68



 
WARNING:  

SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE APPROVAL IS REQUIRED PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF THIS DEVELOPMENT. 

  
Please note from the 7th January 2019, Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 commenced in Wales requiring all new developments of more 

than one house or where the construction area is of 100m2 or more to implement 
sustainable drainage to manage on-site surface water. Surface water drainage systems 

must be designed and built in accordance with mandatory standards for sustainable 
drainage published by Welsh Ministers.  
  

The Sustainable Drainage Approval process is a technical approval independent of the 
need to obtain planning permission, and as such you are advised to contact the 

Sustainable Drainage Approval Body. Their details are provided below: 
  
Phone: 01443 866511 

Email: drainage@caerphilly.gov.uk   
Website: www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sab 

 
Notification of initiation of development and display of notice: 
You must comply with your duties in section 71ZB (notification of initiation of 

development and display of notice: Wales) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  
The duties include: 

  
Notice of initiation of development: 
Before beginning any development to which this planning permission relates, notice 

must be given to the local planning authority in the form set out in Schedule 5A to the 
town and Country Planning (development Management procedure) (Wales) Order 2012  

or in a form substantially to the like effect.  The form sets out the details which must be 
given to the local planning authority to comply with this duty. 
  

Display of Notice: 
The person carrying out the development to which this planning permission relates must 

display at or near the place where the development is being carried out, at all times 
when it is being carried out, a notice of this planning permission in the form set out in 
Schedule 5B to the Town and country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 

(Wales) Order 2012 or in a form substantially to the like effect.  The form sets out the 
details the person carrying out development must display to comply with this duty. 

The person carrying out the development must ensure the notice is: 
(a) Firmly affixed and displayed in a prominent place at or near the place where the 
development is being carried out; 

(b) legible and easily visible to the public without having to enter the site; and 
(c) printed on durable material.  The person carrying out development should take 

reasonable steps to protect the notice (against it being removed, obscured or defaced) 
and, if need be, replace it. 

Page 69



 
NOTE: 

 
1. The construction of the proposed internal roads, access points onto the existing 

highway and off-site highway improvements will be subject to Section 38/278 Highway 
Agreements between the Council and Developer under the Highways Act 1980. 
  

2. The applicant is encouraged to liaise with the Council's Highway Development 
Control team with regard to its requirements for the required S38/278 Highway 

Agreements. 
  
  

 
 

 
 
 

Page 70



24/0299/RM 

 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 72


	Agenda
	3 Planning Committee held on 12th June 2024.
	4 Application No: 23/0882/FULL - The New Forge, Brynhoward Terrace, Oakdale, Blackwood, NP12 0LG.
	Application No: 23/0882/FULL - Site Plan

	5 Application No: 24/0299/RM - Land Off Tir Y Wen, North Of Bedwellty Road, Aberbargoed.
	Application No: 24/0299/RM - Site Plan


